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Minister’s Foreword Chairperson’s Foreword

Caulfield Racecourse Reserve 
has become an iconic feature of 
Melbourne’s urban landscape, as a 
premier horseracing facility.

It is with great pleasure as the 
Chairperson for the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Trust to present 
this 2021 Annual Report to you.

The creation of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act in 2017 
recognised its potential to also become a truly inclusive open 
space asset, and the release of a Land Management Plan 
this year was a significant milestone in the realisation of this 
potential. 

I know for many community members the inclusive vision for 
the Reserve is something they have been advocating for, and it 
was pleasing to see the Plan designed in a collaborative process 
with users of the Reserve, local government, the Victorian 
Planning Authority and Melbourne Racing Club.

I would like to acknowledge the hard work of the Trust over 
the last three years in establishing the organisation, building 
awareness of this space, engaging with the community, and 
setting the reserve up for success.

I look forward to working with the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve Trust to see the Land Management Plan come to 
fruition and thank them for their continued efforts in promoting 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve as an accessible, inclusive public 
space for the community to enjoy.

The Victorian Government established the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve Act 2017, to address the historic imbalances of uses at 
the reserve and to address historic and enshrined conflicts of 
interest that previously existed, to enable a contemporary board 
structure and independent organisation to be established to plan 
for, develop and manage the reserve into the future.  The Trust 
has each year reported on progress in addressing the Victorian 
Auditor Generals review of the former Trust and the bipartisan 
committee report, to improve transparency and delivery on the 
Government’s Commitment.

The 2021 year whilst being challenging with COVID-19, saw a 
major milestone achieved for the Trust, for the local community 
and broader Victoria. The Trust adopted a 15 year Land 
Management Plan for the reserve which articulates a bold vison 
for the reserve as a place for everyone. This bold vision was 
released by the Minister D’Ambrosio in April 2021 at a community 
reception attended by over 200 community leaders and members. 
The vision will bring the reserve to life for thousands of people 
each week, a reserve in which racing is celebrated and enhanced, 
where sporting events occur alongside community events, whilst 
providing a place for people to connect with nature, be outside 
and enjoy the sense of space in an ever-increasing dense urban 
setting. The Covid 19 Pandemic has highlighted the importance of 
accessible open space for physical and mental health benefits.

As the Chairperson of the Trust, I am incredibly proud of the 
Trusts achievements in its first three years and the annual reports 
each year celebrate these achievements.  

In the Trusts first three years the Trust has established itself as 
the responsible land manager, established sound governance 
practices, a brand and presence within the community. The Trust 
has openly engaged to understand the issues and opportunities 
as seen by our communities of interest, undertaken detailed 
studies and sourced other background reports to inform the 
Land Management Plan. The bold vision articulated in the Land 
Management Plan will be possible by continuing to work and 
collaborate with a diverse range of stakeholders including, 
community groups, residents, the Melbourne Racing Club, Sport 
and Recreation Victoria, Department Environment Land Water 
Planning, Monash University, Sports Vic Glen Eira Council, 
Stonnington Council, Level Crossing Removal Authority and the 
Victorian Planning Authority.  I would like to extend a thankyou 
to everyone who has contributed so far and look forward to 
working with you as we implement this vision.

Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP 
Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change  
Minister for Solar Homes

In 2021, the Trust also developed an organisational Strategy 
to guide its direction over the next three years and we look 
forward to working with the community and our stakeholders 
on continuing to build a highly professional organisation that has 
the capability and capacity to deliver a world class precinct for 
everyone to enjoy.

The Government will be considering new appointments to the 
Trust (Board) in 2021 to continue to build upon the foundations 
established in the inaugural Trust under its own Act.  I would 
like to personally thank my fellow Trustees for their enormous 
investment in the setting up the Trust and the reserve for the 
future. I would also like to commend our management team for 
their hard work and commitment. Together with the support 
of our partners and the community we have made significant 
progress and I am excited by what we will do to transform the 
reserve in the years ahead.

Sam Almaliki 
Chairperson 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust
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About the Trust

Responsible Body Declaration

Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trustees

Origins of the Trust

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 
1994, it is with great pleasure we present Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Trust Annual Report for the 
year ending 30 June 2021.

Sam Almaliki 
Chairperson 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust

11 November 2021

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust (the Trust) was established 
with a clear mission in mind by the State Government in August 
2018 as a statutory body corporate with a multi member governing 
board. The Trust is responsible for the planning, development, 
management, operation and use of the Reserve for the purposes of 
racing, recreation and public park.

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust is established under the 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017. The responsible Minister 
for the period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 was the Hon Lily 
D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate 
Change.  The legislation delivered a transparent and modern 
governance model for the Reserve. 

The role of the Trust is to focus on improving public access and use 
of the Reserve, address historic imbalances in use, while ensuring 
the Caulfield Racecourse continues to be one of Australia’s premier 
racing facilities: a destination that honours the land and history, 
while also making improvements with a modern touch that appeals 
to all walks of life in our community.

Among the Trust’s obligations is the development and delivery of a 
Strategic Management Plan for the Reserve herein after referred to 
as a Land Management Plan or LMP.  The Land Management Plan 
was a thoughtfully considered process enthusiastically completed 
during the year and released by the Minister in April 2021 when 
locals, community groups, dignitaries, schools and many more 
interested parties converged for an engaging and entertaining 
Community reception.

Sam Almaliki (Chairperson)

� Land Management Plan Sub-
Committee (Co-Chairperson) 

� Remuneration and Appointments 
Committee (Member)

Danni Hunter – Resigned May 2021

� Land Management Plan Committee 
(Member) 

� Remuneration and Appointments 
Committee (Member)

Peter Watkinson

� Land Management Plan Sub-
Committee (Co-Chairperson)

Julie Busch

� Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 
(Member) 

David Mandel

� Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 
(Chairperson)

Joanne Butterworth-Gray

� Remuneration and Appointments 
Committee (Chairperson)

Greg Sword AM

� Land Management Plan Sub-
Committee (Member)

� Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 
(Member)

Organisational Chart

DANNI HUNTER
Trustee

JULIE BUSCH
Trustee

JOANNE 
BUTTERWORTH- 

GRAY
Trustee

ANDREW PAXTON
General Manager

JODI O'KEEFE
Executive Support

SAM ALMALIKI
Chairperson

DAVID MANDEL
Trustee

GREG SWORD 
AM  

Trustee

PETER 
WATKINSON

Trustee

DELWP

LILY D’AMBROSIO MP
Minister for Energy, 

Environment and Climate Change
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Vision and Principles

Vision

Among several milestones the Trust achieved in the first year of operation, the 
following Vision and Principles were developed with clear and considered intent 
and outline exciting future aspirations for the precinct over the next fifteen years:

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve is the 
centre of community life. It is a community 
and events destination of state significance.  
It is also one of the premier thoroughbred 
racing venues in Australia. It is an accessible, 
vibrant, flexible and inclusive space within 
the broader Caulfield precinct.
Welcome to the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve — a place for everyone.

Functions

The Trust has the following functions as defined by the Caulfield Racecourse  
Reserve Act 2017:

a.  To be responsible for the planning, development, management, operation, care, 
promotion and use of the Reserve for the purposes of racing, recreation and a 
public park;

b.  To undertake proper financial management of the Reserve;

c.  To accept appointment and act as a committee of management of Crown Land 
under the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978;

d.  To perform any other function conferred on or given to the Trust by or under 
this Act or any other Act.

Organisational and 
Operational Performance

Corporate Governance 

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust is governed under 
the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017, and other applicable 
Victorian State Legislation as outlined in the draft Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Trust Governance Framework.  This Act 
sets out the Trusts functions, powers and the standard of 
conduct that the Trust and all its staff must comply with when 
performing their duties.

The Financial Management Act 1984 is the basis for sound 
financial management and reporting requirements. The financial 
reports of the Trust are audited by the Victorian Auditor 
General’s Office to ensure that they comply with all required 
accounting and other standards in compliance with the Audit  
Act 1994.

The Trust also functions as a Committee of Management under 
the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978. 

Board Member Term Number of meetings 
attended

Number of meetings eligible 
to attend

Sam Almaliki 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 14 14

Julie Busch 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 14 14

Greg Sword AM 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 13 14

Joanne Butterworth-Gray 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 14 14

Peter Watkinson 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 14 14

David Mandel 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 13 14

Danni Hunter 1 July 2020 – 18 May 2021 7 13

As a trust, we are committed to developing a comprehensive 
Governance Framework to ensure that we operate transparently 
and are accountable to all our stakeholders.  

Trustees take pride in fulfilling their responsibilities with the 
highest standards of corporate governance. They also bring 
integrity and ethical practice to their areas of responsibility, 
which include, but are not limited to, risk management, financial 
sustainability, legislative and regulatory compliance and 
stakeholder engagement.  

Powers and responsibilities, both at Board and Committee level, 
are exercised strictly within allocated terms of reference and in 
accordance with board policies.
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As part of our resolute commitment to governance, the  
following work has been undertaken confidently and with great 
efficiency by the Trust during the 2020/2021 year to track and 
ensure compliance:

� Risk Register actively reviewed and updated

� Register of Interests for all Trustees

      o   Disclosures of all conflicts, both financial and non-financial, 
are made by members of the Trust.

      o   Maintained and confirmed at all meetings

� Conflict of Interest register:

      o   Maintained and confirmed at all meetings

� Trust and Strategy meetings

      o   Formal agenda and minuted meetings

      o   Register of meeting attendance.

� Committee meetings held for

      o   Finance, Audit and Risk 

      o   Land Management Plan 

      o   Appointments and Remuneration 

� Ratification of Terms of Reference charters for all Committees

� Reviewed and ratified Board Charter 

� Reviewed and ratified Board Code of Conduct

� Developed Draft Policies and Procedures manual for Trustees 
and operational staff 

� All meetings are held in accordance with Department of 
Environment, Land, Water and Planning recommended 
template

� Minutes and Maintenance of Trust and Committees Register

� Continued work to progress VAGO and Bipartisan committee 
report recommendations

      o   Reported as part of this annual report

� Undertook an Audit with VAGO

� Published on Trust web site key documents

� Engaged Price Waterhouse Coopers to commence the 
business case to implement the Land Management Plan

Committees

Three committees established in the Trust’s initial establishment 
period continue to assist with good governance practices through 
helping to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.  
Each committee functions with the powers, obligations and 
responsibilities as set out in their charter and any further directions 
provided by the Trust.  The Committees operate in an advisory role 
to the Trust and enable risks and issues to be explored in  
more detail.

Committee Member Independent Term Number of meetings 
attended

Number of meetings 
eligible to attend as a 

committee member

David Mandel - Chair Yes 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 7 7

Danni Hunter Yes 1 July 2020 – 18 May 2021 0 7

Julie Busch Yes 18 May 2021 – 30 June 2021 6 1

Greg Sword AM Yes 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 7 7

Other attendees Yes General Manager, Executive 
Assistant and Agenda Item 
related guests

Sam Almaliki Yes 6 -

Joanne Butterworth-Gray Yes 3 -

Peter Watkinson Yes 1 -

Finance, Audit and Risk Committee

The purpose of this Committee is to assist the Trust to 
undertake its duties in the areas of financial statements and 
regulatory reporting, risk management, internal controls, 
compliance and internal and external audits. 

Land Management Plan Committee 

The purpose of this Committee is to oversee development of the 
Land Management Plan (LMP) and assist the Trust in efficiently 
carrying out the required duties in this area.

The Committee has been actively involved in leading and 
supporting the development of the LMP and its alignment with 
the Vision as developed and endorsed by the Trust. The LMP 
Committee has further strengthened the Trust’s diligent and well 

Remuneration and Appointments Committee

The purpose of this Committee is to assist the Trust to undertake 
its duties in the areas of policies for remuneration of the 
Management Team along with policies and KPI’s relating to their 
performance review.  It will address development of position 
descriptions for the Management Team and oversight of their 
recruitment processes as well as ensuring effectiveness, integrity 

considered approach in selecting consultants, participating in 
workshops and refining the ideas developed in the LMP. The LMP 
Committee is responsible for the recommendation of Draft and 
Final reports for approval and ratification by the Trust. Such a well-
executed process has ensured delivery of desired outcomes.  

The Land Management Plan Committee was wound up upon the 
completion of the Land Management Plan November 2020.

and compliance of remuneration policy and practices.  The 
Committee considered how the organisation will evolve over time 
to meet the changing needs whilst remaining agile in its approach. 

The committee will also make recommendations on performance 
review of Trustees in discharge of their duties.

Committee Member Independent Term Number of meetings 
attended

Number of meetings 
eligible to attend as a 

committee member

Sam Almaliki – Co-Chair Yes 1 July 2020 – 11 February 2021 2 2

Peter Watkinson – Co Chair Yes 1 July 2020 – 11 February 2021 2 2

Danni Hunter Yes 1 July 2020 – 11 February 2021 1 2

Greg Sword AM Yes 1 July 2020 – 11 February 2021 2 2

Other attendees Yes General Manager, Executive 
Assistant and Agenda Item related 
guests

Julie Busch Yes 2 -

David Mandel Yes 2 -

Joanne Butterworth-Gray Yes 2 -

Committee Member Independent Term Number of meetings 
attended

Number of meetings 
eligible to attend as a 

committee member

Joanne Butterworth-Gray - Chair Yes 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 5 5

Danni Hunter Yes 1 July 2020 – 18 May 2021 4 5

Sam Almaliki Yes 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021 5 5

Other attendees Yes General Manager, Executive 
Assistant and Agenda Item 
related guests
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Re-imagining the Future

This has been an incredibly exciting 
year, as the Trust has continued to 
embark on the once in a lifetime 
opportunity to reimagine the future 
of Caulfield Racecourse Reserve as 
a venue for racing, a public park and 
recreational activities.

The Trust reached two important milestones with precision: 
releasing the Land Management Plan and releasing the Trust 
Strategy. Both were introduced and celebrated at a well-received 
Community reception that featured prominently in mainstream 
media in April 2021.

The Land Management Plan and Trust Strategy was built upon 
previous work in strategically understanding the communities 
views and aspirations for the reserve as described in the Issues 
and Opportunity Paper, followed by exhibition of a Draft Land 
Management Plan, for community consultation.  Invaluable 
diverse community and stakeholder feedback, combined with 
background studies on existing conditions and emerging needs, 
have been used to inform the future directions for the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve. 

In response to such a constructive communication process, 
the Trust proactively refined the Land Management Plan 
incorporating the invaluable feedback received in the Draft.  The 
Land Management Plan includes the following themes:

�    Access and movement

�    Open space and recreation

�    Landscape, environment and sustainability

�    Culture, community and events

�    The digital experience

�    The racing experience

The Trust developed a Trust Strategy to guide the operation of the 
Trust in its early years underpinned by: 

�     Place - Management and development of the reserve  
for everyone

�    Promotion - Promotion and activation of the Reserve and Trust 

Our Activity for the Year

Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic

The Trust, along with the global community, was faced with 
the challenge of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. This 
resulted in the Trust effectively shifting the approach to 
community engagement to online forums, where the Trust could 
still engage, but in a safe and respectful way for all. 

As the Reserve experienced a surge in visitors due to the 
lockdown, the Trust aligned its messaging with Glen Eira 
Council about social distancing and access to the Reserve to 
ensure alignment and reduce confusion.  The closure of schools, 
together with more people working from home, saw a dramatic 
change in the types of users at the reserve, with predominantly 
individuals, small groups and families walking the track and 
using the reserve and a reduction in organised groups.  The 
change and increase in users added additional challenges to 
the maintenance of the reserve and the track, to maintain it in 
a safe condition for everyone. During this period horseracing 
and training continued, although without the usual crowds and 
social activities that are associated with race events.

In embracing great learnings from such challenging pandemic 
circumstances, it has enabled the Trust to positively plan for 
better community outcomes in the future. The increased  
use and pressure on the reserve was a clear demonstration  
of the community’s need for improved access to open space  
and the importance of open space for the health and  
wellbeing of Victorians.

Community and Stakeholder 
Engagement

In 2020/21, with an open minded approach the Trust continued 
to actively engage with key stakeholders and the community 
in both the development of the Land Management Plan and 
ongoing management of the reserve.  

Over 500 individual submissions were received in developing 
the Land Management Plan demonstrating a clear demand and 
support for such a plan for the Reserve. 

To assist with community engagement and transparency, 
the Trust was proactive in its next steps. An accessible and 
informative website was carefully constructed as well as inviting 
Facebook and LinkedIn profiles which individuals and businesses 
can follow – and engage with - to stay updated and take part in 
interesting and often useful conversations that the Trust closely 
observes and interacts with.  The Trust also maintains regular 
contact with our subscriber database. This continues to build 
a strong foundation for future engagement as we purposefully 
communicate how much we value input from all involved.

The Trust has actively and successfully worked closely with 
the Melbourne Racing Club, Glen Eira Council, Stonnington 
Council, Victorian Planning Authority, Sport and Recreation 
Victoria, Monash University and the Level Crossing removal 
Authority to ensure alignment of planning. These meaningful 
relationships are strong and augur well for future conversations 
and objectives.

In April 2021, the Trust held its Annual Public Meeting as a 
Community reception/celebration, with approximately 100 
people attending with others following on a social media 
livestream accessible online from anywhere in the world 
to ensure no one need miss out on the occasion. The event 
provided an opportunity for attendees to hear from the Hon Lily 
D'Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate 
Change, and have an update on the progress and achievements 
of the Trust over the previous twelve months.

The Community reception/celebration was the ideal arena for 
the release of the 2019/20 Annual Report, the Trust Strategy 
and the bold vision for the Reserve as described in the Land 
Management Plan.  The thankyou celebration and reception 
with the community was well received and demonstrated our 
commitment to ongoing discussion, engagement and the need 
for (and productive outcomes that stem from) collaboration. 

�    Partnerships - Fostering and forming partnerships that deliver 
for everyone

�    Policy - Ensuring best practice in governance

�    People - Enabling a positive and high performing culture

At the Community reception/celebration held in April 2021 with 
the release of the Land Management Plan and Trust Strategy, 
the Trust Chairperson and guest speakers reflected on the 
participation of key stakeholders and the community journey to 
date, highlighting achievements and thanked attendees for their 
active involvement and support to the Trust and the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve.  Approximately 100 people attended the 
celebration in the middle of the reserve which also featured 
the unveiling of the reserve vision boards, and entertainment 
provided by a local indigenous dance troupe and musicians from a 
local school.

The Trust commenced the detailed Business Case for Government 
with funding support from Department Jobs Precincts and 
Regions (Sport and Recreation Victoria), The Department 
Environment Land Water and Planning (DELWP) and Glen Eira 
City Council.  The Trust is actively collaborating with other 
key stakeholders in developing the business case including 
the Melbourne Racing Club, Department Premier Cabinet, 
Department of Treasury, Office of Racing, to name a few. 

There are significant changes underway for the area surrounding 
the Reserve (Caulfield and the inner south-east region of 
Melbourne) with level crossing removals, higher densities of 
population in activity centres and changing demographics.  

The Trust has taken a conscientious approach in planning 
for future generations and taken a thoughtful deep dive into 
considering how the Reserve can support both the region, and 
Victoria more broadly into the future, whilst also providing 
guidance as to how the area surrounding the reserve can be 
developed to support the reserve well into the future.   

This has been reflected in our work to date and will continue 
to form part of our forward program and planning. This only 
illustrates a strong commitment by the Trust to ensure no stone 
is left unturned and all possible resources and great minds 
involved are utilised in helping deliver what we believe will result 
in the wonderful evolution of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve 
for the local community, schools, sports associations and other 
community groups, and visitors from near and far.
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Land Management Plan Briefings

Prior to the public release of the Land Management Plan, the 
Trust also diligently provided several productive one-to-one 
briefings with key stakeholders, to ensure they were informed of 
the contents of the plan. These briefings were held online due to 
COVID-19 restrictions and included:

�    Lily D’Ambrosio, Minister for Energy, Environment and 
Climate Change

�    Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

�    Melbourne Racing Club

�    Monash University

�    City of Glen Eira 

�    David Southwick MP

�    City of Stonnington

�    Nina Taylor MP

�    Minister for Racing and Major Events Office

�    Sport and Recreation Victoria (DJPR)

�    Office of Racing

Digital Media

With successive lockdowns in Victoria, we see social media as 
a primary tool for community engagement as well as increasing 
awareness about the Reserve at a time and place respectful 
to everyone needs. The Trust undertook a strategic review of 
how it could improve its social media presence and along with 
continuing to grow a dedicated Facebook business page, a 
Facebook Group, Friends of Caulfield Racecourse Reserve, was 
launched with approx. 1200 followers in June 2021. Leaning 
on expert media and public relations advice, these modern 
communication measures have been successfully implemented 
and further strengthen our objective to meaningfully and 
transparently engage with the public.

A contemporary website has also been established for the Trust 
from which people can subscribe for updates, whilst providing 
important background information on the Trust and its reports.  

Consultations 

In 2020/21 the Trust hosted and facilitated several community 
engagement consultations and events. 

July 2020 

�    Community Webinar on the Draft Land Management Plan was 
facilitated with others following on Facebook

August 2020

�    Webinar with sporting groups facilitated by local Member  
of Parliament

September 2020

�    Webinar outlining approach for Expressions of Interest to 
partner in activating the reserve

December 2020

�    Civic and Corporate Project Advisory Group meeting 

�    Environment and Community Project Advisory Group meeting

�    Community Webinar on the Final Land Management  
Plan thinking

April 2021

�    Community Reception/Celebration to Launch:

      o   2019/20 Annual Report

      o   Trust Strategy

      o   2021 – 2036 Land Management Plan 

      o   Livestream and extensive media coverage of event

Project Advisory Groups

In 2019, The Trust formed two Project Advisory Groups to 
provide input and feedback on the drafting of the plan at key 
stages. The group members were identified by the Trust as  
key stakeholders in the process and existing partners that had 
been involved in previous engagement processes. These are  
listed below.

Civic and Corporate Project Advisory Group

�    Glen Eira City Council 

�    City of Stonnington Council 

�    Melbourne Racing Club 

�    Sport and Recreation Victoria 

�    Monash University 

�    Victorian Planning Authority 

Community Project Advisory Group

�    Glen Eira College 

�    Glen Eira Residents Association 

�    Malvern East Resident Group 

�    VicSport 

�    Glen Eira Environment Group 

The Trust held 2 meetings over the 2020/21 year with each group. 
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Key Initiatives and ProjectsLand Management Plan (LMP)

In 2020/21 the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve Trust made significant progress 
in delivering the Land Management 
Plan, continuing to forge strong 
relationships with our community and 
stakeholders, while progressing to 
establish the viability and longevity of 
the Trust to deliver the plan.

The Trust successfully delivered:

�    The Land Management Plan 

�    A Trust Strategy to guide the operations of the Trust

Three-year Financial Summary

2020-21 
$

2019-20 
$

2018-19 
$

Grants 316,666 283,334 405,137   

Lease 312,500 343,750 290,484 

Other revenue 438,208 66,603 1,775 

Total revenue 1,067,374 693,687 697,396

Operating expenses 1,004,253 792,458 243,505 

Net operating result 63,121  (98,771) 453,891

Total assets 213,966,771 184,266,246 190,708,687 

Total liabilities 348,530 111,126 29,796 

The Trust made significant progress 
in reimagining the future of the 
reserve with the release of the Land 
Management Plan in April 2021 by 
the Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister 
for Energy, Environment and Climate 
Change.  The final Land Management 
Plan remains largely sports agnostic, 
whilst providing opportunities for a 
diverse range of uses and making the 
reserve truly a place for everyone:

Honouring the Government's commitment to improve access to 
this major Victorian open space/public park, new and upgraded 
tunnels are planned for:

�    Upgrade and improve the Guinee’s tunnel from the Station

�    Upgrade and improve the Tunnel from Glen Eira Road

�    New Tunnel providing access from Neerim Road

�    New Tunnel improving access from Queens Road.

A Tan style track around the perimeter of the reserve will 
provide a safe 24-hour trail on the road reserves and through 
the future development on the western side adjacent to the 
reserve.

The LMP delivers on the requirements of the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Act 2017, the Ministerial Direction to  
the Trust, the Second Reading Speech as the Act was  
introduced to Parliament as well as the vision and principles set 
out by the Trust. 

The Land Management Plan was prepared in parallel with:

�    the Caulfield Station Precinct structure plan

�    the long-term lease arrangements with the Melbourne  
Racing Club (MRC).

�    The Melbourne Racing Club’s long-term vision for the 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve including the renewal and 
upgrade of facilities and infrastructure.

�    The Glen Huntly Activity Centre Precinct structure plan

�    Monash University Master Plan

�    Plan Melbourne

�    Level Crossing Removal Planning

As part of the MRC lease arrangements, horse training at the 
Reserve will be relocated by 2023, and the Trust is working to 
help facilitate an early departure of training to enable increased 
community access, both in terms of the area of land available 
and times of day when it will be accessible for recreation and 
other activities.

Excitement now builds as the Land Management Plan will 
be delivered over a 15-year timeframe through innovative 
collaborations and partnerships. 

The Trust commenced the detailed Business Case for 
Government with funding support from Department Jobs 
Precincts and Regions (Sport and Recreation Victoria), The 
Department Environment Land Water and Planning (DELWP) 
and Glen Eira City Council. Going a step further, the Trust is 
actively collaborating with other key stakeholders in developing 
the business case including the Melbourne Racing Club, 
Department Premier Cabinet, Department of Treasury, Office of 
Racing, etc. 

Neerim Road Indoor facility

�    4 multi purpose courts

�    Gymnastics facility

�    Gym

�    Café

�    Meeting rooms

�    Community centre

�    Community facility above 

�    Public park

�    Outdoor courts

Centre south of reserve

�    Synthetic courts with car 
parking below

�    Turf playing fields with 
water storage below

�    Playground

�    Criterion circuit

Centre North of reserve

�    Events areas

�    Enhanced lake and walking 
experience

�    Melbourne Racing Club 
Maintenance Facility

Northern area

�    Renewed race 
infrastructure, including 
day stalls, parade ring, 
entrance, 

�    Events deck with car 
parking below

�    Relocation of the Glass 
house

Wedge Park (western side)

�    Public park �    Community gardens

The Trust has commenced improving access and activation at 
the reserve as a place for everyone. This included:

�    A series of events in partnership with the Astronomical 
Society

�    A visitor Counting methodology and/system installed to 
enable visitor numbers to be monitored and built upon over 
time.

The Trust also worked closely and participated in the activities of 
other agencies and organisations, to help inform their planning 
and ensure the LMP aligns and integrates with plans that are 
being prepared in the surrounding area, including:

      o   Caulfield Station Precinct Structure Plan

      o   Melbourne Racing Club Master Plan

      o   Heritage planning

      o   Monash University Master Planning 

      o   Level Crossing removal authority planning 
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Current year financial review

The initial years of the Trust focused on investing in establishing 
the organisation to ensure that the Trust can deliver on 
government expectations. We take great pride in having 
achieved this objective.

The Trust employed key staff to assist in establishing an office, 
an identity, Risk Framework, Governance Framework, computer 
systems, banking and finance, Risk Management, employment 
contracts and sound processes.  This work has continued to 
mature into this year.

The Trust engaged MGS Architects to assist in the development 
of the Land Management Plan, drawing from the wealth of 
background data and input developed on the prior year.

The Trust had a strong focus and completed the Land 
Management Plan, which was built on the foundations of the 
extensive consultation through the Issues and Opportunities 
Paper and Draft Land Management Plan.

The Trust has collaborated with key stakeholders to collectively 
undertake background studies or to access earlier work to 
understand the changing demographics, the demand for sport 
and recreation facilities, traffic, access and parking options, 
events and activation, ground water and biodiversity. Utilising 
existing studies and collaborating on new work has provided 
the Trust with significant technical expertise at a reduced cost, 
whilst using evidence and research to inform decision making.

To strengthen our next steps, the Trust has engaged Price 
Waterhouse Coopers to work with us in preparing a long form 
business case in line with Government expectations for complex 
and high value projects. 

Furthermore, the Trust has also commenced the planning for an 
integrated water plan to ensure that water is collected, stored 
and used as efficiently and appropriately as possible.  Minimising 
the reliance on portable water being a key driver where possible.

Significant Changes in Financial 
Position

The 2018 lease with the Melbourne Racing Club provides the 
Trust with an income of $375,000 per annum. The lease has a 
key review point linked to the future relocation of training. The 
implementation of the LMP will require further negotiations 
with the MRC to achieve mutual benefits envisaged through 
the LMP.

The Trust had anticipated in drawing down on reserve funds 
in developing the LMP and business case, however, through 
collaboration and online engagement this draw down has been 
reduced.

A $250,000 per annum grant from the Department of 
Environment, Land, Water and Planning (emanating from 
Racing Victoria) is in place for four years (from 2018-19) 

OH&S Performance 
Indicators

2020 
–21

2019 
–20

2018 
–19

2017 
–18

Number of reported 
hazards/ incidents for the 
year per 100 full-time 
equivalent staff members.

0 0 0 n/a

Number of lost time 
standard claims for the 
year per 100 full-time 
equivalent staff members.

0 0 0 n/a

Average cost per claim 
for the year (including 
payments to date and an 
estimate of outstanding 
claim costs as advised by 
WorkSafe);

0 0 0 n/a

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 n/a

The Trust continues to actively review its risk strategy, policies 
and procedures to further mitigate risks.

When the Trust prepares its first corporate plan this will include 
key performance indicators including OH&S and the Trust will 
report against these KPI’s in subsequent reporting periods.

which established the Trust and continues to provide support 
for the Land Management Plan, community engagement, and 
developing a program to deliver on the reserve’s purpose.

In line with the State Government response to the coronavirus, 
the Trust provided 3 months rental relief to the MRC. Two 
months fall within this 20/21 reporting period, and the third 
month was in the prior year.  The Trust has received an offset 
of this (provided from State Government through DELWP) to 
ensure the Trust’s ongoing viability, and the Trust is appreciative 
of this support. 

Significant changes or factors affecting 
performance

Coronavirus has required the Trust to change its planned 
approach to engagement from community workshops face to 
face, to online forums and electronic tools. The Trust’s ability 
to swiftly pivot has ensured we stay on course despite the 
extraordinary challenges.

The Trust has also had to work with the Melbourne Racing Club 
in accommodating the significant change in the number and 
types of users at the reserve, which is also an active work site, a 
training venue for horseracing, and home to international horse 
racing events.

Capital Projects

The Trust did not manage any capital projects in the reporting 
period that met the reporting requirements.

Disclosure of Grants

Nil grants have been provided by the Trust in the reporting 
period.

Subsequent Events

There were no events occurring after the balance date that 
may significantly affect the Trust’s operations in subsequent 
reporting periods.

Public Sector Values and Employment 
Principles

As a public entity, the Trust is required to uphold the public 
sector values and the public sector employment principles 
enshrined in the Public Administration Act 2004.

Public sector employment principles

�    employment decisions are based on merit 

�    public sector employees are treated fairly and reasonably

�    equal employment opportunity is provided 

�    human rights as set out in the Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities are upheld

�    public sector employees have a reasonable avenue of redress 
against unfair or unreasonable treatment.

Public sector values

Responsiveness, Integrity, Impartiality, Accountability, Respect, 
Leadership and Human Rights.

The Trust has complied with the public sector values and the 
employment principles in the engagement and management 
of staff in 2020-21. As a team, we work in a terrific workplace 
environment and work extremely well together.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Trust is committed to the safety of staff, visitors and 
contractors at the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve.  The Trust 
has ensured the safety of contractors is managed through 
appropriate contract OH&S induction arrangements and the 
safety of visitors is paramount.

The Trust’s performance in 2020-21 in relation to the minimum 
mandatory occupational health and safety (OH&S) performance 
indicators is set out in the table below:
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Information and Communication 
Technology Expenditure

Workforce data 

On 30 June 2021:

�    Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust employed two staff  
(1.2 full time equivalent), 

�    The proportion of women was 50%

Employees have been correctly classified in workforce  
data collections.

Freedom of Information (FoI)

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (the Act) allows the 
public a right of access to documents held by the Trust. The 
purpose of the Act is to extend as far as possible the right 
to community access to information held by government 
departments, local councils, Ministers and other bodies subject 
to the Act.

Making a request

FoI requests can be lodged online at www.foi.vic.gov.au. An 
application fee of $29.60 applies. Access charges may also 
be payable if the document pool is large, and the search for 
material, time consuming.

Access to documents in the possession of the Trust can also be 
obtained by making a written request. 

Requests for documents in the possession of the Trust should be 
addressed to:

General Manager
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust
PO Box 89
Glenhuntly, Vic 3163

When making an FoI request, applicants should ensure requests 
are in writing, and clearly identify what types of material/
documents are being sought.

Local Jobs First Act 2003

In August 2018, the Local Jobs First Act 2003 was amended to 
bring together the Victorian Industry Participation Policy (VIPP) 
and Major Project Skills Guarantee (MPSG) policy which were 
previously administered separately. 

The Trust is required to apply the Local Job First policy in all 
projects valued at $3 million or more in Metropolitan Melbourne 
or for state-wide projects, or $1 million or more for projects 
in regional Victoria. MPSG applies to all construction projects 
valued at $20 million or more.

In 2020-21, the Trust had nil procurement activities that met the 
threshold for reporting.  All procurement has been through local 
providers.

All of the Trust’s procurement in the 2020-21 reporting period 
has been through local providers.

For the 2020-21 reporting period, the Trust had a total ICT expenditure of $ 34,231, with the details shown below.

Notes:

•   All figures reflect employment levels during the last full pay period in June 
of each year. 

•   Excluded are those on leave without pay or absent on secondment, 
external contractors/consultants and temporary staff employed by 
employment agencies 

•   Ongoing employees includes people engaged on an open-ended contract 
of employment and executives engaged on a standard executive contract 
who were active in the last full pay period of June. 

2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18

Classification Number 
(headcount)

FTE Number 
(headcount) FTE Number 

(headcount) FTE Number 
(headcount) FTE

Executive officers 1 0.8 1 0.8 0 0 0 0

0 0

Senior Administration staff 1 0.4 2 1.2 2 1.2 0 0

Total 2 1.2 3 2 2 1.2 0 0

Men 1 0.8 1 0.8 0 0 0 0

Women 1 0.4 2 1.2 2 1.2 0 0

Total 2 1.2 3 2.0 2 1.2 0 0

All operational ICT 
expenditure ICT expenditure relating to projects to create or enhance ICT capabilities

Business As Usual (BAU)  
ICT expenditure

Non Business As Usual (non BAU)  
ICT expenditure

Operational expenditure  
(OPEX)

Capital expenditure  
(CAPEX)

(Total) (Total = Operational expenditure and 
Capital Expenditure)

$ 7,683 $26,584 $ 7,683 $26,584

Number of FOI requests received by the Trust in 
2018-19:

0

Number of FOI requests received by the Trust in  
2019-20: 0

In 2020-21, number of FOI requests received from: 
•    Members of Parliament; 
•    the media 
•    the general public. 

0

The number of FoI decisions made by the Trust in  
2020-21 0

The number of FoI decisions made by the Trust in  
2020-21: 
•    were made within the statutory 30 day time period; 
•    were made within an extended statutory 30-45 day 

time period; 
•    were made within 46 to 90 days; and 
•    took more than 90 days to be made.

n/a

The average time (days) taken to finalise requests in 
2020-21 n/a

Number of requests that were subject to a complaint/
internal review by OVIC (including the number that 
progressed to VCAT

0

•   ‘FTE’ means full time employee equivalent. 

•   ‘Classification’: The Trust classifies its workforce as being either:

      o    ‘Executive officers’ means the General Manager / CEO

      o    ‘Senior Administration staff’ means senior staff to support the 
functioning of the Trust and the Reserve

Consultancy Expenditure

In the 2020/21 financial year, nil consultancies were engaged 
by the Trust where the total fees payable to consultants were 
$10,000 or greater.  

Government Advertising Expenditure

The Trusts expenditure in the 2020-21 reporting period on 
Government campaign expenditure did not exceed $100,000.

Notes:

•   ICT expenditure refers to the Trust’s costs in providing business enabling 
ICT services within the current reporting period. It comprises Business  
As Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business As Usual (Non-BAU) 
ICT expenditure. 

•   Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the Trust’s 
current ICT capabilities. 

•   BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure, which primarily 
relates to ongoing activities to operate and maintain the current  
ICT capability.

FoI statistics

Freedom of information statistics for the Trust for 2020-21 are 
set out in the table below:
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Compliance with the Building  
Act 1993

The Trust owns or controls two government buildings located 
at Caulfield Racecourse Reserve and consequently is required 
to include a statement on its compliance with the building and 
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993 in relation to 
these buildings.

The Trust requires that appropriately qualified consultants 
and contractors are engaged for all proposed works on land 
controlled by the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust and that 
their work and services comply with current building standards. 
All such consultants and contractors are expected to have 
appropriate mechanisms in place to ensure compliance with the 
building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993, 
Building Regulations 2018 and the National Construction Code.

In 2020-21:

Competitive Neutrality Policy

Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust complies with the 
requirements of the Competitive Neutrality Policy.

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (PD Act) enables 
people to make a disclosure about corrupt or improper conduct 
by a public officer or a public body. 

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust is a public body for the 
purposes of the PD Act.

What is a public interest disclosure? 

A protected disclosure is a complaint of corrupt or improper 
conduct by a public officer or a public body.

Number of major works 
projects undertaken (>$50 
000)

0

number of building permits, 
occupancy permits, or 
certificate of final inspection 
issued in relation to buildings 
owned 

0 building permits

0 occupancy permits

0 certificates of occupancy

number of emergency orders 
and building orders issued in 
relation to buildings

0 emergency orders

0 building orders

number of buildings that have 
been brought into conformity 
with building standards during 
the year

0 buildings brought into 
conformity

In addition to the above, the reserve is open to the public every 
day of the year (except race days), from 9:45am to sunset.  
Groups of runners frequent the course, whilst during the 
COVID-19 restrictions there has been a notable increase in use 
and a shift to families, small groups and individuals utilising  
the reserve and course.

A notable group of users are both private and commercial  
dog walkers.

Additional information available  
on request 

In compliance with the requirements of the Standing Directions 
of the Assistant Treasurer, the following information is available 
from the Trust on request, either partially or fully, subject to the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982: 

�    a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have been 
duly completed by all relevant officers

�    details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee, or held 
beneficially in a statutory authority or subsidiary

�    details of publications produced by the agency about itself, and 
how these can be obtained

�    details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies 
charged by the agency

�    details of any major external reviews carried out on the agency

‘Improper or corrupt conduct’ involves substantial 
mismanagement of public resources, risk to public health or 
safety or the environment, or corruption. 

How do I make a public interest disclosure?

You can make a protected disclosure about the Trust or its board 
members, officers, or employees by contacting IBAC (details 
below). 

The Trust is not able to receive public interest disclosures.

The Trust is committed to ensuring that any person who makes 
a public interest disclosure about the Trust, its board members, 
officers, or employees is protected from detrimental action in 
reprisal for making that public interest disclosure.

Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission  
(IBAC) Victoria

Address:   Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne 
Victoria 3000.

Mail:  IBAC, GPO Box 24234, Melbourne, Victoria 3001

Internet:  www.ibac.vic.gov.au 

Phone:  1300 735 135

Compliance with the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Act 2017

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017 (the Act) became 
effective in November 2017. 

However, it was not until the Trustees were appointed, effective 
1 August 2018, that management was vested in the Trust, 
pursuant to Section 2(3) of the Act 

Section 32 of the Act requires both DELWP and the Trust to 
include in their respective Annual Reports for each financial 
year, details “regarding the use of Caulfield Racecourse Reserve 
for the purposes of recreation and for public park purposes 
during that year”.

Booked or specific uses of Caulfield Racecourse Reserve for 
the purposes of recreation and for public park purposes for the 
period July 2020 - June 2021 include:

Event Activity Date Day / Night
Total 

People

Community Jewish Festival Community 26/02/2021 Cancelled due 
to COVID

1,000

Astronomical Society 
Valentines Night Love Under 
the Stars

Astronomy 14/02/2021 Cancelled due 
to COVID

Astronomical Society 
Valentines Night Love Under 
the Stars

Astronomy 15/02/2021 Night 100

Glen Eira College House 
Cross Country Comp

Sport 01/04/2021 Day 800

CRRT Community LMP Launch 14/04/2021 Night 200

ASV Luner Eclipse Event 
(Blood Moon)

Astrological 26/05/2021 Night 700

A number of other events planned were cancelled with the rolling 
and extended Covid 19 Pandemic lockdowns within Victoria.

�    details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by the agency

�    details of overseas visits undertaken, including a summary of 
the objectives and outcomes of each visit

�    details of major promotional, public relations and marketing 
activities undertaken by the agency to develop community 
awareness of the entity and its services

�    details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve 
the occupational health and safety of employees

�    a general statement on industrial relations within the agency, 
and details of time lost through industrial accidents and disputes

�    a list of the agency’s major committees, the purposes of  
each committee, and the extent to which the purposes have 
been achieved

�    details of all consultancies and contractors, including 
consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, and 
expenditure committed for each engagement. 

You may request any of the above information from the Trust by 
submitting your request to:

General Manager 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust 
PO Box 89 
Glenhuntly, Vic 3163
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Moving Forward

The Trust is committed to the highest standards of accountability 
and believes it is obliged to ensure progress is being made on the 
reviews and reports that lead to its formation. 

The Trust is pleased to provide the below report card as 
evidence of its continued commitment to strong governance and 
management practices. 

Progress to date on VAGO and 
Bi-partisan working group 
recommendations

Background

The Bi-Partisan Working Group and VAGO Recommendations 
were provided to the incoming Trustees in line with a 2014 
report of the Office of the Victorian Auditor-General (VAGO) 
that the management and oversight of the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve be more rigorous and establish a comprehensive 
reporting framework.

These frameworks ensure that moving forward the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve is managed in accordance with modern 
standards of good public sector governance, consistent with the 
principles and obligations in the Public Administration Act 2004.

The Trust looks to build on progress to date to ensure that 
applicable recommendations from both reports are implemented 
to improve the use, development, promotion and management 
of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve. 

The tables provided within this report serve as a summary 
report card assessing our continued progress in 2020/21 
and reflect an ongoing commitment to accountability and 
transparency to our community.

Looking ahead 

The reimagined Caulfield Racecourse Reserve as a place for 
everyone was successfully released as a Land Management Plan 
in April 2021 by the Minister.  With due diligence, the Trust 
engaged and is working with Price Waterhouse Coopers in 
developing a long form Business Case in line with Government 
expectations. Key funding partners for the business case include 
Glen Eira Council, Department Jobs Precincts and Regions 
(DJPR), Department Environment Land Water Planning (DELWP).

The Trust is actively collaborating with other key stakeholders 
in developing a solid and compelling business case including 
the Melbourne Racing Club, Department Premier Cabinet, 
Department of Treasury, Office of Racing, to name a few. 

With the early departure of training from the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve, it is anticipated this provides an 
opportunity to bring forward a civil construction works program 
to commence the development of the Reserve for its three 
purposes: racing, recreation and a public parklands.

Alignment of the Reserve’s civil works programs with MRC 
works will be critical in securing financial and time efficiencies, 
whilst minimising the disruption to Reserve activities and to 
ensure a coherent vision is achieved.  

For example, the construction of a second track and enabling 
infrastructure would be aligned with the installation of tunnel 
upgrades and new tunnels: this would avoid future track 
closures and disruptions to events at the reserve.

Consideration in establishing a critical path of the Reserve and 
Racing civil construction works include:

The critical stages:

�    Second Track work with Tunnel works

�    Track lighting and power supply, with enabling works for 
community infrastructure

�    Track lighting, events deck work and basement parking 

�    Removal of the southern lake and construction of alternative 
water storage

Works programs in the precinct:

�    Level Crossing Removal

�    Caulfield Station works

�    Caulfield Village development

�    Council works programs

Another key focus moving forward is the realisation of some 
‘quick wins’ for the community, especially around improving 
signage and access to the Reserve, however this is subject to 
funding. 

These improvements strongly support the principle to 
ensure that the Reserve is an accessible, vibrant, flexible and 
inclusive place, and we anticipate that these improvements will 
incentivise people to use the Reserve. 

We are working on strategies to securing the ongoing financial 
sustainability of the Trust as well as partnerships and funding 
that support the delivery of the LMP.

Financial Management Compliance 
Attestation

I Sam Almaliki, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify 
that the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust has been 
granted an exemption from the Standing Directions 2018 
under the Financial Management Act and Instructions.  This 
exemption has been granted by the Assistant Treasurer on 
the basis Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust complies with 
the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning’s 
Portfolio Financial Management Compliance Framework.

Sam Almaliki 
11 November 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Trustees of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust (the trust) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2021 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration in the financial statements. 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
trust as at 30 June 2021 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 
and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian 
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
trust in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Other 
Information  

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the "other information" included in the trust’s Annual 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2021. The other information in the Annual Report does not include 
the financial report and my auditor’s report thereon.  My opinion on the financial report does not 
cover the other information included in the Annual Report.  Accordingly, I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is 
to read the other information when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude 
that there is a materially misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I 
have nothing to report in this regard.  

Board of 
Trustees' 
responsibilities 
for the financial 
report 

The Board of Trustees of the trust are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management 
Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board of Trustees determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board of Trustees are responsible for assessing the trust’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the trust’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Trustees 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Trustees' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw 
attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the trust to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board of Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that I identify during my audit. 

 
  

 
MELBOURNE 
15 November 2021 

Paul Martin 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
trust in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Other 
Information  

The Board is responsible for the "other information" included in the trust’s Annual Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2020. The other information in the Annual Report does not include the financial report 
and my auditor’s report thereon.  My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other 
information included in the Annual Report.  Accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read 
the other information when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude 
that there is a materially misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I 
have nothing to report in this regard.  

Board of 
Trustees' 
responsibilities 
for the financial 
report 

The Board of Trustees of the trust are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management 
Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board of Trustees determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board of Trustees are responsible for assessing the trust’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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The attached financial statements for the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Trust (Trust) have been prepared in 
accordance with Standing Direction 5.2 of the Financial 
Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting 
Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including 
Interpretations, and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements.

The Trust further states that, in our opinion, the 
information set out in the comprehensive operating 
statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in 
equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, 
presents fairly the financial transactions during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 and financial position of the entity 
at 30 June 2021.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any 
circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements to be misleading or 
inaccurate.

The Trust authorise the attached financial statements for 
issue on 26 October 2021.

Andrew Paxton
General Manager 
Melbourne 
11 November 2021

Antony Christianen
Chief Finance Officer 
Melbourne 
11 November 2021

Sam Almaliki
Chairperson 
Melbourne 
11 November 2021
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Comprehensive operating statement (a)  
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021

Balance sheet (a)  
As at 30 June 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
(a) This format is aligned to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting
(b) The Land revaluation for 2020/21 increase was $29.4m, the net revaluation increase was recognised in operating statement to the extent that it reverses a net 
revaluation decrease of $6.425m recognised in the operating statement in  2019/20 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
(a) This format is aligned to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting
(b) The Receivables and Payables for 2019/20 were reinstated with GST
(c) The Land revaluation for 2020/21 was increased $29.4m, the net revaluation increase was recognised in operating statement to the extent that it reverses a net 
revaluation decrease of $6.425m recognised in the operating statement in  2019/20 

Notes $ 
2021

$ 
2020

Assets

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 6.3  723,602  323,310 

Receivables (b) 5.1  17,735  71,819 

Total financial assets   741,337  395,129 

Non-financial assets

Land 4.1  213,200,000  183,800,000 

Property, plant and equipment 4.2  21,447  37,583 

Intangible assets 4.3  3,987  5,784 

Prepayments  -    27,750 

Total non-financial assets   213,225,434  183,871,117 

Total assets   213,966,771  184,266,246 

Liabilities

Payables (b) 5.2  330,580  86,248 

Borrowings 6.1  1,591  15,204 

Employee related provisions 3.1.2  16,358  9,674 

Total liabilities   348,530  111,126 

Net assets   213,618,241  184,155,120 

Equity

Contributed capital  190,225,000  190,225,000 

Accumulated surplus  418,241  (6,069,880)

Land revaluation reserve (c) 8.3  22,975,000  -   

Net worth   213,618,241  184,155,120 

Notes $ 
2021

$ 
2020

Continuing operations

Income from transactions

Income 2.1  1,067,374 693,687

Total income from transactions  1,067,374 693,687

Expenses from transactions

Employee benefit expenses 3.1.1  (364,261) (342,222) 

Other operating expenses 3.2  (616,611) (429,664) 

Depreciation and amortisation 4.2.2  (22,993) (19,629) 

Interest expense 6.1.1  (388) (943) 

Total expenses from transactions   (1,004,253) (792,458) 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)   63,121 (98,771) 

Other economic flows included in net result

Changes in physical asset revaluation of Non-Financial Asset (land) (b) 8.2  6,425,000 (6,425,000) 

Total other economic flows included in net result   6,425,000 (6,425,000) 

Net result   6,488,121 (6,523,771) 

Other economic flows – other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in physical asset revaluation of Non-Financial Asset (land) (b) 8.3  22,975,000 -

Total other economic flows – other comprehensive income   22,975,000 -

Comprehensive result   29,463,121 (6,523,771) 
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Cash flow statement (a)  
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021

Statement of changes in equity (a)  
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

(a) This format is aligned to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting
(b) Goods and Services Tax received from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO )is presented on a net basis.

(a) This format is aligned to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting
(b) The Land revaluation for 2020/21 was increased $29.4m, the net revaluation increase was recognised in operating statement to the extent that it reverses a net 
revaluation decrease of $6.425m recognised in the operating statement in  2019/20

Notes $ 
2021

$ 
2020

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Receipts from government 737,200 284,800

Receipts from other entities 480,310 398,611

Goods and Services Tax received from the ATO (b) - 8,916

Interest received  1,808 4,267

Total receipts 1,219,318 696,594

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (786,142) (800,379)

Goods and Services Tax paid to the ATO (b) (13,824) -

Interest paid (388) (943)

Total payments  (800,354) (801,322)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.3.1  418,964 (104,728)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of non-financial assets (5,059) (35,225)

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities  (5,059) (35,225)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings and principal portion of lease 
liabilities

(13,612) (12,319)

Net cash flows (used in) financing activities  (13,612) (12,319)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  400,292 (152,271)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 323,310 475,581

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6.3  723,602 323,310

$ 
Physical asset 

revaluation surplus

$ 
Accumulated 

Surplus

$ 
Contributed 

Capital

$ 
Total

Balance at 1 July 2019 - 453,891 190,225,000 190,678,891

Net result for the year - (6,523,771) - (6,523,771)

Balance at 30 June 2020 - (6,069,880) 190,225,000 184,155,120

Balance at 1 July 2020 - (6,069,880) 190,225,000 184,155,120

Net result for the year (b) - 6,488,121 - 6,488,121

Other comprehensive income for the year (b) 22,975,000 - - 22,975,000

Balance at 30 June 2021  22,975,000 418,241 190,225,000 213,618,241
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1. About This Report

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are in Australian dollars and 
the historical cost convention is used unless a different 
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note 
associated with the item measured on a different basis.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing 
these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, 
contributions by owners (that is, contributed capital and its 
repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do 
not form part of the income and expenses of the Trust. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to 
be made about financial information being presented. The 
significant judgements made in the preparation of these financial 
statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected 
by those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that 
are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made 
by management in the application of AASs that have significant 
effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

–    the fair value of plant and equipment (refer Note 7.3);

–    for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of 
existing staff, patterns of claims, future salary movements and 
future discount rates (refer Note 3.1.2);

–    superannuation expense (refer Note 3.1.3);

–    for leases, determining whether the arrangement is in 
substance a short-term arrangement and estimating discount 
rate when not implicit in the lease (refer Note 6.1); and

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust (Trust) is a 
statutory office and government agency of the State 
of Victoria, established pursuant to an order made 
by the Premier under the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve Trust Act 2017. 

A description of the nature of its operations and 
its principal activities is included in the “Report 
of Operations” which does not form part of these 
financial statements. 

Its address is: The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve 
Trust Gate 9, Caulfield Racecourse Reserve, 
Kambrook Road, Caulfield, VIC, 3145.

–    the impacts of COVID-19 on the financial report and  
going concern

These financial statements cover the Trust as an individual 
reporting entity.

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to 
the nearest $1 unless otherwise stated.

Impact of COVID-19

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak first reported 
in late 2019 is currently having an unprecedented health and 
economic impact both internationally and domestically.

To reduce the spread of the virus, a series of public health 
measures were imposed across the world and in Australia, 
including travel restrictions, a nation-wide call to work from 
home and significantly reduced levels of activity in both the 
economy and community. 

In response to the global health pandemic, the Federal and 
State governments have been providing a number of economic 
stimulus packages and policies in support of Victorian families 
and businesses. 

The consequential impacts on the Trust during the 2020-21 
financial year have included:

�    The income and contributions received by Trust enabled Trust 
to have sufficient funds to pay its accounts, continue with the 
business plan as well as maintaining its workforce level at 
the required level and address the health care need of staff 
affected by the pandemic

�    The rental waiver provided to the Melbourne Racing Club 
as part of the Victorian Government's Rental Relief Policy 
covered the months of July and August 2020 and additional 
funding was provided by the Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning to cover the Trust for its lower 
rental collections.

Based on the current assessment as of the date of signing the 
financial report, the Trust has concluded that the impact of  
the pandemic on the organisation is expected to be not material 
and manageable.  

Compliance information 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) 
and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which 
include Interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB). In particular, they are presented in a 
manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 1049  
Whole of Government and General Government Sector  
Financial Reporting. 

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable to 
not-for-profit entities have been applied.  Accounting policies 
selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that 
the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of 
relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported. 

2. Funding Delivery of Our Services

2.1.1 Grants

Trust has determined that the grant income included in the table 
above under AASB 1058 has been earned under arrangements 
that are either not enforceable and/or linked to sufficiently 
specific performance obligations.

Income from grants without any sufficiently specific 
performance obligations, or that are not enforceable, is 
recognised when Trust has an unconditional right to receive 
cash which usually coincides with receipt of cash. On initial 
recognition of the asset, Trust recognises any related 
contributions by owners, increases in liabilities, decreases in 
assets, and revenue (‘related amounts’) in accordance with other 
Australian Accounting Standards. Related amounts may take the 
form of: 

�    contributions by owners, in accordance with AASB 1004;

�    revenue or a contract liability arising from a contract with a 
customer, in accordance with AASB 15;

�    a lease liability in accordance with AASB 16; 

�    a financial instrument, in accordance with AASB 9; or

�    a provision, in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Income from grants to develop the land management plan for 
the Trust is recognised when the Trust has an unconditional right 
to receive cash which usually coincides with the receipt of cash.

The Trust has been granted income to cover the rental relief 
provided to the Melbourne Racing Club under the Victorian 
Government Rent Relief policy. Income is recognised related to 
the rental relief covering the months of July and August 2020.

Introduction

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust (Trust) 
was established by the State Government in 
August 2018 to be responsible for the planning, 
development, management, operation, care, 
promotion and use of the Reserve for the purposes 
of racing, recreation and a public park.

The Trust was created under the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve Act 2017 (‘the Act’), and it 
also functions as a Committee of Management 
under the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978. Part 
of the Trust’s obligations include preparing a Land 
Management Plan for the Reserve, which includes 
setting strategic objectives, directions and a long-
term plan for the future of the Reserve.

Income from MRC Lease of Crown Land is the 
primary method by which the Trust generates 
funds. To enable the Trust to fulfil its objectives and 
provide outputs, it also receives income from grants 
provided by the Department of Environmental, 
Land, Water and Planning (DELWP).

Significant judgement: Revenue

The Trust applies the accounting standards AASB 
15 and 1058 when recognising revenue and income.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
applied where specific performance obligations 
identified. Where these performance obligations 
are not met, revenue is not yet recognised and 
accounted for as a contractual liability.

If no specific performance obligations exist in 
the contract or agreement, income is recognised 
immediately under AASB 1058 Income of Not for 
Profit Entities.

The Trust has made the judgement that amounts 
received in relation to operational contribution 
revenue should be recognised under AASB 1058 
on the basis that specific performance obligations 
are deemed not to exist within contribution 
agreements. This assessment is subjective in nature 
and requires the Trust to exercise judgment in the 
interpretation of applicable accounting standards.

Structure

2.1  Summary of income that funds the delivery of 
our services

Notes $ 
2021

$ 
2020

Grants 2.1.1  316,666 283,334

Lease income 2.1.2  312,500  343,750 

Other income 2.1.3  436,400  62,336 

Interest 2.1.4  1,808  4,267 

Total income from 
transactions

  1,067,374 693,687

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning

 316,666 283,334

Total grants  316,666 283,334

2.1 Summary of Income that Funds the 
Delivery of Services
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3. The Cost of Delivering Services

Introduction

This section provides an account of the expenses 
incurred by the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust 
(Trust) in delivering services and outputs. In Section 
2, the funds that enable the provision of services 
were disclosed and in this note the cost associated 
with provision of services are recorded. 

Structure

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services  

3.2 Other operating expenses

3.1 Employee Expenses — 
Comprehensive Operating Statement

2.1.2 Lease Income

2.1.3 Other income

3.1.1 Employee benefits in the comprehensive  
operating statement

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Melbourne Racing Club  312,500 343,750

Total lease income  312,500 343,750

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Technical Reports 
contributions

 -   62,336

Sport and Recreation 
Victoria contribution to land 
management plan

 200,000  -   

City of Glen Eira contribution 
to land management plan

 150,000  -   

Australian Taxation Office 
cash flow boost

 86,400  -   

Total contributions  436,400 62,336

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Salaries and wages, annual 
leave and long service leave

 335,355 313,527 

Defined contribution 
superannuation expense

 28,906 28,695 

Total employee expenses  364,261 342,222

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Current provisions

Annual leave

Unconditional and expected 
to be settled within 12 
months 

16,357 9,674 

Total current provisions for 
employee benefits

 16,357 9,674

Total provisions for 
employee benefits

 16,357 9,674

Lease income from leasing a parcel of the Reserve to the 
Melbourne Racing Club which is an operating lease is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The operating lease relates to a parcel of the Reserve managed 
by the Trust with lease terms between five and ten years, with 
options to extend to 2083. All operating lease contracts contain 
market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises 
its option to renew. The lessee does not have an option to 
purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period. The risks 
associated with rights that the Trust retains in underlying assets 
are not considered to be significant, the Trust employs strategies 
to further minimise these risks.

The lease income that has been recognised in 2019/20 
represented 11 months of rental payments and in 2020/21 
represented 10 months of rental payments. During the course of 
the 2019/20 financial period, the Trust had provided one month 
rental relief  to the Melbourne Racing Club and during 2020/21 
financial period, the Trust has provided two months rental 
relief to the Melbourne Racing Club as part of the Victorian 
Government’s Rental Relief Policy. Additional funding was 
provided by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning to cover the Trust for its lower rental collections.

Trust has determined that the other income included in the table 
above under AASB 1058 has been earned under arrangements 
that are either not enforceable and/or linked to sufficiently 
specific performance obligations.

Other income without any sufficiently specific performance 
obligations, or that are not enforceable, is recognised when 
Trust has an unconditional right to receive cash which usually 
coincides with receipt of cash. On initial recognition of the asset, 

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment 
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave 
entitlements, termination payments and Workcover premiums. 

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement in relation to superannuation is employer contributions 
for members for defined contribution superannuation plans that 
are paid or payable during the reporting period.

Trust recognises any related contributions by owners, increases 
in liabilities, decreases in assets, and revenue (‘related amounts’) 
in accordance with other Australian Accounting Standards.

Other income relates to the Federal Government payment for 
a cash boost under the Federal Government's plan to boost 
employer’s cash flow to assist employers during the Coronavirus 
crisis, Trust also obtained a funding contributions from Sport and 
Recreation and the City of Glen Eira towards the production of a 
land management plan to redevelop the reserve.

2.1.4 Interest

Interest income includes interest received on funds held and 
recognised using the effective interest method which allocates 
the interest over the relevant period.

Notes $ 
2021

$ 
2020

Employee benefit 
expenses

3.1.1  364,261 342,222

Other operating 
expenses

3.2  616,611  429,664 

Total expenses 
incurred in delivery 
of services

  980,872 771,886

3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of 
wages and salaries and annual leave for services rendered to the 
reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the 
services are delivered.

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave: Liabilities for 
wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits, annual leave 
and on-costs) are recognised as part of the employee benefit 
provision as current liabilities, because the Trust does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

The liability for salaries and wages are recognised in the balance 
sheet at remuneration rates which are current at the reporting 
date. As the Trust expects the liabilities to be wholly settled 
within 12 months of reporting date, they are measured at 
undiscounted amounts.

The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability and 
measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be paid, 
as the Trust does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is 
non-vesting and it is not considered probable that the average 
sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits 
accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is 
recognised in the Comprehensive operating statement as  
it is taken.

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation 
and superannuation are not employee benefits. They are disclosed 
separately as a component of the provision for employee benefits 
when the employment to which they relate has occurred.

37 36 



3.1.3 Superannuation contributions

Employees of the Trust are entitled to receive superannuation 
benefits and the Trust contributes to defined contribution plans.

Land is the 54.35 hectares of land that make up the Crown Grant 
commonly referred to as the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve.

Initial recognition: Land was initially recognised at cost on 
transfer from DELWP, subsequently revalued at fair value which 
resulted in a fair value decrement of $6,425,000 in 2019-20 
financial year.

Subsequent measurement: The market approach is used 
for specialised land, although is adjusted for the community 
service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the 
land being valued. The CSO adjustment reflects the valuer’s 
assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset 
to the extent that the CSO adjustment is also equally applicable 

4.2 Total property, plant and equipment (a)

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day 
running costs incurred in normal operations.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the 
reporting period in which they are incurred.

3.2 Other operating expenses

4.1 Land

Paid contribution for 
the year

Contribution 
outstanding at year-end

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Defined contribution plans 

    Other 28,906 28,637  - 58 

Total 28,906 28,637  - 58 

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Supplies and services

      Development of land 
management plan 

 410,414 237,558

      Community awareness and 
publicity 

 60,912 45,571

      Corporate and compliance 
costs 

 64,336 32,086

     Caufield racecourse reserve 
maintenance contract 

 40,000 40,000

     Insurance  27,750 25,756

      Information technology costs  8,960 8,291

     Office and accommodation 
expenses 

 1,954 5,335

     Legal fees  1,716 585

    Staff recruitment  570 34,482

Total supplies and services  616,611 429,664

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Opening balance 183,800,000 190,225,000

Revaluation 29,400,000 (6,425,000)

Closing balance 213,200,000 183,800,000

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Value of Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve designated under 
the Crown Land (Reserves) 
Act 1978

213,200,000 183,800,000 

Total 213,200,000 183,800,000 

4. Key Assets Available to Support 
Output Delivery

Introduction

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust (Trust)  
controls plant and equipment that are utilised in 
fulfilling its objectives and conducting its activities. 
They represent the key resources that have been 
entrusted to the Trust to be utilised for delivery of 
those outputs. The primary asset is the Reserve.

Significant judgement: Classification of Land, 
property, plant and equipment as “Key Assets”

The Trust has made the judgement that land is a key 
asset utilised to support the Trust’s objectives and 
outputs.

Fair value measurement

Where the assets included in this section are 
carried at fair value, additional information is 
disclosed in Note 7.3 in connection with how those 
fair values were determined.

Structure

4.1       Land

4.2      Total property, plant and equipment (a)

4.3       Intangible Assets

to market participants. As adjustments of CSO are considered 
as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be 
classified as Level 3 assets. The Fair value of non-financial assets 
are determined as per Note 7.3.

The Trust in 2020-21 engaged the Valuer-General Victoria to 
undertake a valuation of the fair value of the land. The Valuer-
General concluded the fair value of the land to be $213,200,000, 
which resulted in a fair value increase of $29,400,000.  As a 
result of reversing the 2019-20 decrement of $6,425,000, the 
net revaluation increase was $22,975,000 was recognised in 
operating statement. 

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Gross carrying amount Accumulated depreciation Net carrying amount

Plant and equipment at fair value 29,889 24,829 (11,942) (5,418) 17,947 19,411 

Leasehold improvements at fair value 4,396 4,396 (2,039) (940) 2,357 3,456 

Buildings at fair value 26,579 26,579 (25,435) (11,863) 1,143 14,716 

Net carrying amount 60,864 55,805 (39,416) (18,221) 21,447 37,584 

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Gross carrying amount Accumulated depreciation Net carrying amount

Buildings at fair value 26,579 26,579 (25,435) (11,863) 1,143 14,716 

Net carrying amount 26,578 26,579 (25,435) (11,863) 1,143 14,716 

$ 
Buildings 2021

Opening balance - 1 July 2020 14,716

Depreciation (13,572)

Closing balance - 30 June 2021 1,143

$ 
Buildings 2020

Opening balance - 1 July 2019 (a) 0

Additions 26,579

Depreciation (11,863)

Closing balance - 30 June 2020 14,716

Notes:
(a) AASB 16 Lease has been applied for the first time from 1 July 2019.

Notes:
(a) This balance represents the initial recognition of right-of-use assets recorded on the balance sheet on 1 July 2019 to right-of-use assets (recognised under 
AASB 16 at 1 July 2019).

The following tables are subsets of buildings, and, plant and equipment by right-of-use assets.

4.2.1 Total right-of-use property assets.
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Initial recognition: Items of property, plant and equipment are 
measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an 
asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and 
depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the 
lease or their estimated useful lives. Fair value is determined 
with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering 
legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public 
announcements or commitments made in relation to the 
intended use of the asset)

Right-of-use asset – Initial measurement

Trust recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the 
lease commencement date. The right-of use asset is initially 
measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for:

�    any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentive received; plus

�    any initial direct costs incurred; and

�    an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it 
is located.

Right-of-use asset – Subsequent measurement:

Trust depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight line basis 
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease 
term. The estimated useful life of the right-of-use assets are 
determined on the same basis as property, plant and equipment. 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to revaluation.

In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced 
by impairment losses, if any and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets 
of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature 
and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is expected 
to be materially the same as fair value determined under AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement, with the consequence that AASB 
136 does not apply to such assets that are regularly revalued.

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Right of Use of Asset  13,572 11,863

Furniture  2,952 2,566

Computer  2,607 2,085

Website Amortisation  1,798 1,409

Leasehold improvements  1,099 940

Office Equipment  965 767

Total depreciation  22,993 19,629

Notes:
 (a) The table incorporates depreciation of right-of-use assets as 
 AASB 16 Leases.

Notes:
(a) The 2019-20 opening balance represents the initial recognition of right-of-use assets recorded on the balance sheet on 1 July 2019 relating to operating leases.

Asset Useful life: years

Leased assets 2 to 10

Plant and equipment (including 
computer)

3 to 10

All property and plant and equipment that have finite useful lives 
are depreciated.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at 
rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual 
value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives 
for the different asset classes for current and prior years are 
included in the table below:

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, 
and adjustments made where appropriate.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter 
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. Where Trust obtains 
ownership of the underlying leased asset or if the cost of the 
right-of-use asset reflects that the entity will exercise a purchase 
option, the entity depreciates the right-of-use asset over its 
useful life.

4.2.2 Depreciation and amortisation 
Charge for the period (a)

Building at fair value Property, plant and 
equipment at fair value

Total

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Opening balance (a) 14,716 0 22,868 0 37,584 0

Additions  -  26,579  5,059 29,225  5,059 55,804

Depreciation (13,572) (11,863) (7,623) (6,358) (21,196) (18,221)

Closing balance 1,144 14,716 20,304 22,867 21,447 37,583

4.2.3  Reconciliation of movements in carrying values of property, plant and equipment (a)

4.3 Intangible assets

5.1  Receivables

Website Total

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Gross carrying 
amount

Opening balance  5,784  -    5,784  -   

Additions  -    7,194  -    7,194 

Depreciation  (1,798)  (1,410)  (1,798)  (1,410)

Net book 
value at end of 
financial year

 3,987  5,784  3,987  5,784 

Initial recognition

Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 
When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 Intangible Assets 
is met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised at 
cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation and amortisation begins when 
the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

Subsequent measurement

Intangible produced assets with finite useful lives, are amortised 
as an ‘expense from transactions’ on a straight-line basis over 
their useful lives. Produced intangible assets have useful lives of 
seven years.

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets 
not yet available for use) are tested annually for impairment and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment 
whenever an indication of impairment is identified.

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments 
and categorised as ‘financial assets at amortised costs’. They are 
initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Trust holds the contractual receivables 
with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and 
therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. 

Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are 
recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables 
(except for impairment) but are not classified as financial 
instruments. The Trust applies AASB 9 for initial measurement 
of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables 
are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction cost. Amounts recognised from the Victorian 
Government represent funding for all commitments incurred 
and are drawn from the Consolidated Fund as the commitments 
fall due.

Details about Trust’s impairment policies, Trust’s exposure to 
credit risk and the calculation of the loss allowance are set out in 
Note 7.1.2.

5. Other Assets and Liabilities

Introduction

This section sets out those assets and liabilities 
that arose from the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve 
Trust (Trust) operations.

Structure

5.1       Receivables

5.2      Payables

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Contractual

Sale of goods and services  -   17,985

Other receivables  -   33,334

Statutory     

GST input tax credit recoverable (a)  17,735 20,500

Total receivables  17,735 71,819

Represented by:

Current receivables  17,735 71,819

Notes:
(a) The receivables for 2019/20 were reinstated with GST.
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5.2 Payables
Payables consist of:

�    contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and 
measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust prior to 
the end of the financial year that are unpaid; and 

�    statutory payables, that are recognised and measured 
similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as 
financial instruments and not included in the category of 
financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not 
arise from contracts.

Payables for supplies and services have an average credit period 
of 30 days.

The terms and conditions of amounts payable to the government 
and agencies vary according to the particular agreements and 
as they are not legislative payables, they are not classified as 
financial instruments.

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Contractual

 Supplies and services  259,000 24,198

 Other payables  41 62

 Unearned income  31,250 -

Statutory     

GST input tax payable (a)  34,377 18,730

PAYG withholding  5,912 43,200

Superannuation payable  -   58

Total payables  330,580 86,248

Represented by:

Current payables  330,580 86,248

Notes:
(a) The Receivables and Payables for 2019/20 were reinstated with GST.

Notes:
(a) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Maturity analysis of contractual payables (a)

Maturity analysis of borrowings

Maturity dates

$ 
Carrying 
amount

$ 
Nominal 
amount

$ 
Less than 
1 month

$ 
1 - 3 

months

$ 
3 months - 

1 year

$ 
1 - 5 years

2021

Supplies and services 259,000 259,000 231,000  10,000  18,000 -

Other payables 41 41 41 -  -   -

Total 259,041  259,041  231,041  10,000  18,000  -   

2020

Supplies and services 24,198 24,198 12,898 -  11,300 -

Other payables 62 62 62 -  - -

Total 24,260 24,260 12,960 -  11,300 -
Maturity date

$ 
Carrying 
amount

$ 
Nominal 
amount

$ 
Less than 
1 month

$ 
Between 

1 and 3 
months

$ 
Between     
3 months 

and 1 year

$ 
Between 1 
year and 5 

years

$ 
5+ years

2021

Lease liabilities  1,591  1,591  -    1,591  -    -    -   

Total  1,591  1,591  -    1,591  -    -    -   

2020

Lease liabilities 15,204 15,204  -    -    14,002  1,202  -   

Total 15,204 15,204  -    -   14,002 1,202 -

6. Financing Our Operations

Introduction

This section provides information on the sources 
of finance utilised by the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve Trust (Trust) during its operations, along 
with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and 
other information related to financing activities of 
the Trust.

This section includes disclosures of balances that 
are financial instruments (such as borrowings 
and cash balances). Notes 7.1 and 7.3 provide 
additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

Structure

6.1       Borrowings

6.2       Leases

6.3       Cash flow information and balances

6.4       Commitments for expenditure

6.5       Commitments for income

6.1 Borrowings

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Current borrowings

Lease liabilities (a)

– Non-PPP related lease 
liabilities

 1,591 14,002

Total current borrowings  1,591 14,002

Non-current borrowings

Lease liabilities (a)

– Non-PPP related lease 
liabilities

 -   1,202

Total non-current borrowings  -   1,202

Total borrowings  1,591 15,204

Notes:
(a) Secured by the assets leased. Lease liabilities are effectively secured as 
the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

‘Borrowings’ refer to liabilities related to Right of Use of Assets.

Borrowings are classified as financial instruments. The 
measurement basis depends on whether the Trust has 
categorised its interest bearing liabilities as either ‘financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through net result’, or financial 
liabilities at ‘amortised cost’. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Trust 
determines the classification of its interest bearing liabilities at 
initial recognition.

All interest-bearing liabilities are initially recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial 
recognition depends on whether the Trust has categorised 
its interest-bearing liabilities as either ‘financial liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss’, or financial 
liabilities at ‘amortised cost’.
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6.1.1 Interest

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Interest on lease liabilities  388 943

Total interest expense  388 943

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Interest expense on lease 
liabilities

 388  943 

Total amount recognised in 
the Comprehensive Operating 
Statement

 388  943 

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Total cash and deposits disclosed 
in the balance sheet

 723,602 323,310

Balance as per cash flow 
statement

 723,602 323,310

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Net result for the period 6,488,121 (6,523,771)

Non-cash movements   

Depreciation and amortisation of 
non-current assets

22,993 19,629

Net gain/(loss) arising from 
revaluation of land

(6,425,000) 6,425,000

Movements in assets and liabilities:   

Decrease/(Increase) in receivables 54,084 (44,983)

Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments 27,750 (27,750)

Increase/(Decrease) in payables 244,332 37,852

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 6,683 9,295

Net cash flows from/(used in) 
operating activities

418,964 (104,728)

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Total cash outflow for leases  13,612  12,319 

6.2 Leases

6.3 Cash flow information and balances

6.4 Commitments for expenditure

6.2.1 Leases

Information about leases for which the Trust is a lessee is 
presented below.

Trust leasing activities

The Trust leases a property. The lease contract is typically made 
for fixed periods of 2 years with an option to renew the lease 
after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated every two 
years to reflect market rentals.

At 30 June 2021, Trust had an outstanding office lease and the 
total commitment at that date was $1,591, this lease expired in 
July 2021, however Trust had no agreement with the Melbourne 
Racing Club to renew the lease option at 30 June 2021, other 
than an acknowledgement from MRC that the Trust wanted to 
renew the lease for another 2 years. Trust did obtain agreement 
from MRC to renew the lease and the terms of that lease 
renewal in July and this is reported under subsequent events.

6.2.1 (a) Right-of-use Assets

Right-of-use assets are presented in note 4.2.1.

6.2.1 (b) Amounts recognised in the Comprehensive  
Operating Statement

The following amounts are recognised in the Comprehensive 
Operating Statement relating to leases:

Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents, comprise cash 
on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those highly 
liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, and 
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash 
equivalents are indicated below.

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and 
capital commitments arising from contracts. These commitments 
are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive 
of GST. Where it is considered appropriate and provides 
additional relevant information to users, the net present values 
of significant individual projects are stated. These future 
expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the 
related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

6.4.1 Total commitments payable 
Nominal Amounts: 2021

Nominal Amounts: 2020

For any new contracts entered into the Trust considers whether 
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, 
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset 
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration’. To apply this definition Trust assesses whether 
the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

�    the contract contains an identified asset, which is either 
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by 
being identified at the time the asset is made available to 
Trust and for which the supplier does not have substantive 
substitution rights;

�    Trust has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the 
period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope 
of the contract and Trust has the right to   direct the use of 
the identified asset throughout the period of use; and

�    Trust has the right to take decisions in respect of ‘how and for 
what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or 
after 1 July 2019.

Separation of lease and non-lease components

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a 
lease component, the lessee is required to separate out and 
account separately for non-lease components within a lease 
contract and exclude these amounts when determining the lease 
liability and right-of-use asset amount.

Recognition and measurement of leases as a lessee

Lease Liability – initial measurement

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the 
lease payments unpaid at the commencement date, discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 
determinable or Trust's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following:

�    fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less 
any lease incentive receivable;

�    variable payments based on an index or rate, initially measured 
using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

�    amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee; and

�    payments arising from purchase and termination options 
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease Liability – subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced 
for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured 
to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are 
changes in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and 
loss if the right of use asset is already reduced to zero.

6.2.1 (c) Amounts recognised in the Statement of Cashflows

The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of 
Cashflows relating to leases.

6.3.1 Reconciliation of net result for the period to cash flow 
from operating activities

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets

Trust has elected to account for short-term leases and leases 
of low value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of 
recognising a right of use asset and lease liability, the payments 
in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Presentation of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Trust presents right-of-use assets as ‘property plant equipment’ 
unless they meet the definition of investment property, in which 
case they are disclosed as ‘investment property’ in the balance 
sheet. Lease liabilities are presented as ‘borrowings’ in the 
balance sheet.

$ 
Less than 

1 year

$ 
Between 

1 and 5 
years

$ 
Over 5 

years

$  
Total

Other 
commitments 
payable

176,455 - - 176,455

Total 
commitments 
(inclusive of GST)

176,455 -  -   176,455

Less GST 
recoverable from 
the Australian 
Tax Office

16,041

Total 
commitments 
(exclusive of GST)

   160,414

$ 
Less than 

1 year

$ 
Between 

1 and 5 
years

$ 
Over 5 

years

$ 
Total

Caulfield 
Racecourse 
reserve 
maintenance 
contract

13,333 - - 13,333

Total 
commitments 
(inclusive of GST)

13,333 - - 13,333

Less GST 
recoverable from 
the Australian 
Tax Office

1,212

Total 
commitments 
(exclusive of GST)

   12,121
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6.5 Commitments for income

7.1 Financial instruments specific 
disclosures

Commitments for future income is the minimum that would 
be receivable under the current 65 year lease the Trust has 
provided to the MRC for the remainder of its term, anticipating 
that the MRC will take up each 10 year extension when it is 
available. The following table shows the lease income receivable.

6.5.1 Total commitments receivable 
Nominal Amounts: 2021

7.1.1 Financial instruments: Categorisation

Introduction

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that 
give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the 
Trust’s activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities 
arise under statute rather than a contract (for example taxes, 
fines and penalties). Such assets and liabilities do not meet 
the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation.

Categories of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the 
following criteria are met and the assets are not designated as 
fair value through net result:

�    the assets are held by the Trust to collect the contractual cash 
flows, and

�    the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interests.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less any impairment.

Nominal Amounts: 2020

$ 
Less than 1 

year

$ 
Between 

1 and 5 
years

$ 
Remaining

$ 
Total

Other commitments 
receivable

412,500 1,650,000 23,615,625 25,678,125

Total commitments 
receivables  
(inclusive of GST)

412,500 1,650,000 23,615,625 25,678,125

Less GST payable to 
the Australian Tax 
Office

2,334,375

Total commitments 
receivables 
(exclusive of GST)

   23,343,750

$ 
Less than 1 

year

$ 
Between 

1 and 5 
years

$ 
Over 5 

years

$ 
Total

Other commitments 
receivable (a)

343,750 1,650,000 24,028,125 26,021,875

Total commitments 
receivables  
(inclusive of GST)

343,750 1,650,000 24,028,125 26,021,875

Less GST payable to 
the Australian Tax 
Office

2,365,625

Total commitments 
receivables 
(exclusive of GST)

   23,656,250

Notes:
(a) The Trust provided $62,500 rental relief (2019-20 $31,250) due to a 
rental waiver provided to the Melbourne Racing Club as part of the Victorian 
Government's Rental Relief Policy for July and August 2020. Additional 
funding was provided by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning to cover the Trust for its lower rental collections.

Notes:
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian government and GST input tax credit recoverable  
and taxes payable).

Notes:
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian government and GST input tax credit recoverable  
and taxes payable). 

7. Risks, contingencies and valuation 
judgements

Introduction

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust (Trust) 
is exposed to risk from its activities and outside 
factors. In addition, it is often necessary to 
make judgements and estimates associated 
with recognition and measurement of items in 
the financial statements. This section sets out 
financial instrument specific information, (including 
exposures to financial risks) as well as those items 
that are contingent in nature or require a high level 
of judgement to be applied, which for the Trust 
related mainly to fair value determination.

Structure

7.1      Financial instruments specific disclosures

7.2     Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

7.3     Fair value determination

The Trust recognises the following assets in this category:

�    cash and deposits; and

�    receivables (excluding statutory receivables).

Categories of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised 
on the date they are originated. They are initially measured 

at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments 
are measured at amortised cost with any difference between 
the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest-
bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. Trust 
recognises the following liabilities in this category:

�    payables (excluding statutory payables); and

�    borrowings (including lease liabilities).

2021 $ 
Cash and deposits 

$ 
Financial assets at 

amortised cost (AC)

$ 
Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost (AC)

$ 
Total

Contractual financial assets     

Cash and Deposits  723,602 - -  723,602 

Receivables (a)  -    -    -  -   

Total contractual financial assets  723,602  -    -    723,602 

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables (a)     

Supplies and services -  -    259,000  259,000 

Borrowings    

Lease liabilities -  - 1,591 1,591

Total contractual financial liabilities - - 260,591 260,591

2020 $ 
Cash and deposits 

$ 
Financial assets at 

amortised cost (AC)

$ 
Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost (AC)

$ 
Total

Contractual financial assets     

Cash and Deposits  323,310 - -  323,310 

Receivables (a)  -    51,319  -  51,319 

Total contractual financial assets  323,310  51,319  -    374,629 

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables (a)     

Supplies and services - -  24,260  24,260 

Borrowings    

Lease liabilities - - 15,204 15,204

Total contractual financial liabilities - - 39,464 39,464
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7.1.2      Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial Risks

Credit Risk Liquidity Risk Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

As a whole, the Trust’s financial risk management program seeks 
to manage these risks and the associated volatility of its financial 
performance.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods 
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses 
are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset and 
financial liability above are disclosed in Note 7.3 to the financial 
statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to 
prudentially manage the Trust’s financial risks within the 
Government policy parameters.

The Trust’s main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk 
and interest risk. The Trust manages these financial risks in 
accordance with its financial risk management policy.

The Trust uses different methods to measure and manage the 
different risks to which it is exposed. Primary responsibility for 
the identification and management of financial risks rests with 
the Accountable Officer of the Trust.

Financial instruments: Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default 
on its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The Trust’s 
exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of 
a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Trust. Credit risk is measured at fair value 
and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Trust’s contractual financial 
assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian 
Government. For debtors other than the Government, it is the 
Trust’s policy to only deal with entities with high credit ratings 
of a minimum triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or 
credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, the Trust does not engage in hedging for its 
contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual 
financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash and 
deposits, which are mainly cash at bank. As with the policy for 
debtors, the Trust’s policy is to only deal with banks with high 
credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that the Trust will 
not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes 
financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts that are 
more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Contract financial assets are written off against the carrying 
amount when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Bad debt written off by mutual consent is classified as a 
transaction expense. Bad debt written off following a unilateral 
decision is recognised as other economic flows in the net result.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying 
amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial 
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the 
Trust’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account 
of the value of any collateral obtained.

There has been no material change to the Trust’s credit risk 
profile in 2020-21.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither 
past due nor impaired (a)

Financial instruments: Market risk

The Trust’s exposures to market risk are primarily through 
interest rate risk. Objectives, policies and processes used to 
manage each of these risks are disclosed below.

$ 
Financial 

institutions    (triple 
A credit rating)

$ 
Other

$ 
Total

2021

Cash and Deposits  723,602  -  723,602 

Receivables (a)  -    -    -   

Total contractual 
financial assets

 723,602  -  723,602 

2020

Cash and Deposits 323,310 - 323,310

Receivables (a) -  51,319 51,319

Total contractual 
financial assets

323,310  51,319 374,629

Notes:
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts 
owing from Victorian government and GST input tax credit recoverable).

Notes:
(a) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian government and GST input tax credit recoverable).

Notes:
(a) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian government and GST input tax credit recoverable).

Financial instruments: Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from being unable to meet financial 
obligations as they fall due. The Trust operates under the 
Government fair payments policy of settling financial obligations 
within 10 days and in the event of a dispute, making payments 
within 10 days from the date of resolution.

The Trust is exposed to liquidity risk mainly through the financial 
liabilities as disclosed on the face of the balance sheet. The Trust 
manages its liquidity risk by:

�    maintaining an adequate level of uncommitted funds that can 
be drawn at short notice to meet its short-term obligations; and

�    holding investments and other contractual financial assets 
that are readily tradeable in the financial markets.

The Trust’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant 
based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

The carrying amount detailed in the following table of 
contractual financial liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements represents the Trust’s maximum exposure to 
liquidity risk.

Sensitivity disclosure analysis and assumptions

The following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ over the next 
12 months. A movement of 25 basis points up and down (2020: 
25 basis points up and down) in market interest rates (AUD) and 
the tables that follow show the impact on the Trust’s net result 
and equity for each category of financial instrument held by the 
Trust at the end of the reporting period, if the above movements 
were to occur.

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

2021   
Weighted average 

interest rate %

$  
Carrying amount

$  
Fixed interest 

rate

$  
Variable interest 

rate

$  
Non-interest 

bearing

Financial assets      

Cash and Deposits 0.027%  723,602 -  723,602  -   

Receivables (a)  -   - -  -   

Total financial assets   723,602 -  723,602  -   

Financial liabilities      

Payables (a)      

   Supplies and services  259,000  259,000 

Borrowings     

   Lease liabilities 1.15%  1,591  -  1,591  - 

Total financial liabilities   260,591  -    1,591  259,000 

2020   
Weighted average 

interest rate %

$  
Carrying amount

$  
Fixed interest 

rate

$  
Variable interest 

rate

$  
Non-interest 

bearing

Financial assets      

Cash and Deposits 0.073%  323,310 -  323,310  -   

Receivables (a)  51,319 - -  51,319 

Total financial assets   374,629 -  323,310  51,319 

Financial liabilities      

Payables (a)      

   Supplies and services  24,260  24,260 

Borrowings   

   Lease liabilities 1.15% 15,204  -  15,204 -

Total financial liabilities  39,464 -  15,204 24,260
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Interest rate risk sensitivity

2021 -25 basis points +25 basis points 

$ 
Carrying amount

$  
Net result

$  
Net result

Contractual financial assets    

Cash and deposits  723,602 (1,809) 1,809

Total impact  (1,809) 1,809

Contractual financial liabilities    

Borrowings  1,591 (4) 4

Total impact  (4) 4

2020 -25 basis points +25 basis points 

$ 
Carrying amount

$  
Net result

$  
Net result

Contractual financial assets  

Cash and deposits 323,310 (808) 808

Total impact  (808) 808

Contractual financial liabilities    

Borrowings  15,204 (38) 38

Total impact  (38) 38

7.2 Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities

Contingent assets 
The Trust has no contingent assets (2020: $Nil)

Contingent liabilities 
The Trust has no contingent liabilities (2020: $Nil)

7.3 Fair value determination

This section sets out information on how the Trust determined 
fair value for financial reporting purposes. Fair value is the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.

The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:

�    financial assets and liabilities at fair value through operating 
result; and

�    land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment;

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities which 
are carried at amortised cost, also need to be determined for 
disclosure purposes.

The Trust determines the policies and procedures for 
determining fair values for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities as required.

Fair value hierarchy

In determining fair values, a number of inputs are used. 
To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also 
known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as follows:

Significant judgement: Fair value measurements of 
assets and liabilities

Fair value determination requires judgement and 
the use of assumptions. This section discloses the 
most significant assumptions used in determining 
fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a 
material impact on the results and financial position 
of the Trust.

�    Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities;

�    Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable; and

�    Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

The Trust determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Trust’s independent 
valuation agency, monitors changes in the fair value of each 
asset and liability through relevant data sources to determine 
whether revaluation is required.

How this section is structured

For those assets and liabilities for which fair values are 
determined, the following disclosures are provided:

�    carrying amount and the fair value (which would be the same 
for those assets measured at fair value);

�    which level of the fair value hierarchy was used to determine 
the fair value; and

�    in respect of those assets and liabilities subject to fair value 
determination using Level 3 inputs:

 –    a reconciliation of the movements in fair values from the 
beginning of the year to the end; and

 –    details of significant unobservable inputs used in the fair 
value determination.

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

This section is divided between disclosures in connection with 
fair value determination for financial instruments (refer to Note 
7.3.1) and non-financial physical assets (refer to Note 7.3.2).

7.3.1 Fair value determination of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and 
liabilities are determined as follows:

�    Level 1 – the fair value of financial instrument with standard 
terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are 
determined with reference to quoted market prices;

�    Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

�    Level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash 
flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

Trust currently holds a range of financial instruments that are 
recorded in the financial statements where the carrying amounts 
approximate fair value, due to their short-term nature or with 
the expectation that they will be paid in full by the end of the 
2021-22 reporting period.

These financial instruments include:

Where the fair value of the financial instruments is different 
from the carrying amounts, the following information has been 
included to disclose the difference.

Financial assets Financial liabilities

Cash and Deposits Payables

Receivables Lease liabilities

$ 
Carrying amount 

2021

$ 
Fair value 

2021

$ 
Carrying amount 

2020

$ 
Fair value 

2020

Financial liabilities     

Lease liabilities  1,591  1,565 15,203 14,815

Total liabilities at fair value  1,591  1,565 15,203 14,815
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7.3.2 Fair value determination: Non-financial physical assets 
Fair value measurement hierarchy

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations

Significant unobservable inputs have remained unchanged since June 2020.

$ 
Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2021

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

$ 
  Level 1 (a)

$  
Level 2 (a)

$  
Level 3 (a)

Land at fair value

Land at fair value  213,200,000 - -  213,200,000 

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant and equipment  17,947 - -  17,947 

Buildings at fair value

RoU Asset  1,144 - -  1,144 

Leasehold improvements at fair value

Leasehold improvements  2,357 - -  2,357 

Intangibles at fair value

Intangibles  3,985 - -  3,985 

Total  213,225,433 -  -  213,225,433 

$ 
Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2020

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

$ 
  Level 1 (a)

$  
Level 2 (a)

$  
Level 3 (a)

Land at fair value

Land at fair value  183,800,000 - -  183,800,000 

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant and equipment  19,411 - -  19,411 

Buildings at fair value

RoU Asset  14,716 - -  14,716 

Leasehold improvements at fair value

Leasehold improvements  3,456 - -  3,456 

Intangibles at fair value

Intangibles  5,782 - -  5,782 

Total  183,843,365 -  -    183,843,365 

Notes:
(a) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy see note 7.3.1.

Notes:
(a) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy see note 7.3.1.

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Specialised land: The market approach is also used for 
specialised land, although is adjusted for the community service 
obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the land 
being valued.

Plant and equipment, Buildings improvements and Intangibles 
assets are held at fair value. When an asset is specialised in use, 

such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair 
value is determined using the current replacement cost method.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the 
period to 30 June 2021.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is 
considered the highest and best use.

2021 $ 
Land

$  
Right of Use 

of Asset

$  
Plant and 

equipment

$  
Building 

Improvements

$  
Intangibles

$  
Total

Opening balance  183,800,000  14,716  19,411  3,456  5,782  183,843,365 

Purchases  -  -  5,059  -  -  5,059 

Revaluations  29,400,000  -  -  -  -  29,400,000 

Depreciation  -  (13,572)  (6,524)  (1,099)  (1,798)  (22,993)

Closing balance  213,200,000  1,144  17,946  2,357  3,985  213,225,431 

2020 $ 
Land

$  
Right of Use 

of Asset

$  
Plant and 

equipment

$  
Building 

Improvements

$  
Intangibles

$  
Total

Opening balance  190,225,000  -    -    -    -    190,225,000 

Purchases  -  26,579  24,829  4,396  7,190  62,994 

Revaluations  (6,425,000)  -  -  -  -  (6,425,000)

Depreciation  -  (11,863)  (5,418)  (940)  (1,408)  (19,629)

Closing balance  183,800,000  14,716  19,411  3,456  5,782  183,843,365 

Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs

Range (weighted 
average)

Sensitivity of fair value measurement to 
changes in significant unobservable inputs

Land Market 
approach

Community 
service obligation 
(CSO) adjustment

25-30 per cent A significant increase or decrease in the CSO 
adjustment would result in a significantly lower 
(higher) fair value.

Plant and equipment Current 
replacement 
cost

Cost per unit $5,000- $20,000                 
per unit

A significant increase or decrease in the 
cost per unit of the asset would result in a 
significantly higher or lower valuation.

Useful life of plant 
and equipment

3-10 years  
(7 years)

A significant increase or decrease in the 
estimated useful life of the asset would result 
in a significantly higher or lower fair value.

Lease hold 
Improvements

Current 
replacement 
cost

Useful life 
of leasehold 
improvements

5 to 10 years  
(7 years)

A significant increase or decrease in the 
estimated useful life of the asset would result 
in a significantly higher or lower fair value.
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8. Other Disclosures

Introduction

This section includes additional material disclosures 
required by accounting standards or otherwise, for 
the understanding of this financial report.

Structure

8.1 Rental relief

8.2 Other economic flows included in net result

8.3 Reserves

8.4 Responsible persons

8.5 Related parties

8.6 Remuneration of auditors

8.7 Subsequent events

8.8  Australian Accounting Standards issued that are 
not yet effective

8.9 Glossary of technical terms

8.10 Style conventions

8.2 Other economic flows included in 
net result

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of 
an asset or liability that do not result from transactions. Other 
gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or 
losses from the revaluation of land.

8.4 Responsible persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the 
Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994 
(FMA), the following disclosures are made regarding responsible 
persons for the reporting period.

Names 
The persons who held the positions of Ministers and 
Accountable Officers in the Trust are as follows:

The Hon Lily D'Ambrosio MP 
Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate Change 
(1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021)

Mr Andrew Paxton 
General Manager 
(1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021)

8.5 Related parties

The Trust is a wholly-owned and controlled entity of the State 
of Victoria

Related parties of the Trust include:

�    all key management personnel and their close family members 
and personal business interests (controlled entities, joint 
ventures and entities they have significant influence over);

�    all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

8.3 Reserves

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Other gains/(losses) from other 
economic flows

Net gain/(loss) arising from 
revaluation of non-financial asset

6,425,000 (6,425,000)

Total other gains/(losses) from 
other economic flows

6,425,000 (6,425,000)

Total number
Band Range 2021 2020

$0-$9,999 6 6

$10,000 - $19,999 1 1

Total  7 7

Total remuneration $60,124 $61,068

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Department of Environment, 
Water, Land and Planning

 316,666 283,334

Sport and Recreation Victoria  200,000  20,000 

City of Glen Eira  150,000 13,636

  666,666 316,970

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Department of Environment, 
Water, Land and Planning

 19,500  -   

Victorian Auditor-General  33,000  11,300 

Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority

 27,750  25,756 

  80,250 37,056

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Physical asset revaluation 
surplus (a)

Balance at beginning of 
financial year

 -   -

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

 22,975,000 -

Balance at end of financial year 22,975,000 -

Name Position Period

Sam Almaliki Chairperson (1 July 2020 to 
30 June 2021)

Julie Busch Trustee (1 July 2020 to 
30 June 2021)

Greg Sword AM Trustee (1 July 2020 to 
30 June 2021)

Joanne Butterworth-Gray Trustee (1 July 2020 to 
30 June 2021)

Peter Watkinson Trustee (1 July 2020 to 
30 June 2021)

David Mandel Trustee (1 July 2020 to 
30 June 2021)

Danni Hunter Trustee (1 July 2020 to 
18 May 2021)

Notes:
(a) The physical assets revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of land.

8.1 Rental relief

For 2020-21, the Trust provided $62,500 rental relief (2019-
20 $31,250) due to a rental waiver provided to the Melbourne 
Racing Club as part of the Victorian Government's Rental 
Relief Policy. The rental relief covered the months of June, 
July and August 2020. Additional funding was provided by the 
Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning to cover 
the Trust for its lower rental collections.

Remuneration

The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the 
Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is 
reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ 
Financial Report.

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable 
Officer in connection with the management of Trust during the 
reporting period was in the range: $200,000–$210,000 (2020: 
$150,000–$160,000).

The individuals who held the positions of Responsible Officers, 
other than the Minister and Accountable Officer in the Trust are 
as follows:

The number of responsible persons, other than the Minister  
and the Accountable Officer and their total remuneration is 
shown below:

The Trust made payments to the following:

�    all departments and public sector entities that are controlled 
and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s 
length basis.

Significant transactions with government-related entities

The Trust received funding from the following:

Remuneration of Key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Authority include the 
Responsible Minister, the Chief Executive Officer, and the 
Trustees. The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries 
and benefits the Responsible Minister receives. Ministerial 
remuneration and allowances are set by the Parliamentary 
Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968, and is reported within the 
Department of Parliamentary Services Financial Report.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of 
consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on 
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is 
disclosed in the following categories. Short-term employee 
benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave 
or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, 
as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or 
subsidised goods or services. Post-employment benefits include 
pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a 
discrete basis when employment has ceased. Other long-term 
benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or 
deferred compensation.

54 55 



$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Short-term benefits  242,857 207,976

Post-employment benefits  23,035 19,758

Other long-term benefits  -   -

Total(a)  265,893 227,734

Notes:
(a) Note that KMPs are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of 
accountable officer (Note 8.4).

Transactions and balances with key management personnel 
and other related parties

Given the breadth and depth of state government activities, 
related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other members of the public, e.g. stamp 
duty and other government fees and charges.

Further employment of processes within the Victorian public 
sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards 
issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement 
processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with 
Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Trust and 
related party transactions previously disclosed, there were 
no related party transactions that were attributed to key 
management personnel, their close family members and their 
personal business interests. No provision has been required, 
nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from 
related parties.

8.6 Remuneration of auditors

$ 
2021

$ 
2020

Victorian Auditor-General’s 
Office

Audit or review of the financial 
statements - current fee

 18,000 11,300

Audit or review of the financial 
statements - under provision 
from prior year

 15,000 -

Total remuneration of auditors  33,000 11,300

8.7 Subsequent events

Post balance date event:

The State of Victoria entered a lockdown from 11.59pm on 15 
July 2021 to 11.59pm on 27 July 2021. A further lockdown 
commenced at 8.00pm on 5 August 2021. The impact on 
Trust has been limited to rental relief being provided covering 
the months of July and August 2020. Additional funding was 
provided by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning to cover the Trust for its lower rental collections.

Lockdown restrictions in greater Melbourne are due to ease on 
29 August 2021. Regional Victoria had a number of restrictions 
lifted in the during August 2021.

 The Trustees have managed and continues to actively manage, 
the risks arising from COVID-19.

As at the date these financial statements are authorised for 
issue, the Trustees consider that the financial effects of any 
potential changes will not have a significant impact on future 
financial periods.

Based on the current assessment as of the date of signing the 
financial report, the Trustees have concluded that the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate as any impact of the 
pandemic on the organisation is expected to be manageable. No 
other matters or circumstances have arisen subsequent to 30 
June 2021 that would require adjustment of, or disclosure in, the 
financial statements.

On 21 July Trust obtained agreement with the Melbourne 
Racing Club to renew the office lease for a further two years. 
The entries for this transaction was input into MYOB on 1 
August 2021, which is when the old lease expired. The impact on 
Trust is that the Right of Use - Assets increased $28,108 and the 
Lease liability increased $28,108.

8.8 Australian Accounting Standards 
issued that are not yet effective

Certain new and revised accounting standards have been 
issued but are not effective for the 2020-21 reporting period. 
These accounting standards have not been applied to these 
Financial Statements. The State is reviewing its existing policies 
and assessing the potential implications of these accounting 
standards which includes:

�    AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the 
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position 
as current or non-current. It initially applied to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
application permitted however the AASB has recently issued 
AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – 
Deferral of Effective Date to defer the application by one year 
to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Trust will not 
early adopt the Standard.

Trust is in the process of analysing the impacts of this Standard. 
However, it is not anticipated to have a material impact.

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations 
have been issued that apply to future reporting periods, but are 
considered to have limited impact on the Trust’s reporting.

�    AASB 17 Insurance Contracts.

�    AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements –  
Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 
Entities (Appendix C).

�    AASB 2020-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Removal of Special Purpose Financial Statements for Certain 
For-Profit Private Sector Entities.

�    AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments.

�    AASB 2020-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Covid-19-Rent Related Concessions: Tier 2 Disclosures.

8.9 Glossary of technical terms

Borrowings 

Refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public 
borrowings raised through the Treasury Corporation of Victoria, 
lease liabilities, service concession arrangements and other 
interest-bearing arrangements. Borrowings also include non 
interest-bearing advances from government that are acquired 
for policy purposes.

Commitments

Commitments include those operating, capital and other 
outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive result

The amount included in the operating statement representing 
total change in net worth other than transactions with owners 
as owners.

Depreciation

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption 
through wear or time of a produced physical asset. This  
expense is classified as a 'transaction' and so reduces the ‘net 
result from transaction’.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

Employee benefits expense

Employee benefits expense include all costs related to employment 
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, 

redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans and 
defined contribution superannuation plans.

Ex gratia expenses

Ex gratia expenses are the voluntary payment of money or other 
non-monetary benefit (e.g. a write-off) that is not made either 
to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the entity or 
to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal 
liability or claim against the entity.

Finance lease

Is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset.

Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash;

(b) an equity instrument of another entity;

(c) a contractual right or statutory right:

      •    to receive cash or another financial asset from another 
entity; or

      •    to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially 
favourable to the entity; or

(d)  a contract that will or may be settled in the entity's own 
equity instruments and is:

      •    a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged 
to receive a variable number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments; or

      •    a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments.

Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

Financial liability

A financial liability is any liability that is:

(a) A contractual or statutory obligation:

      •    to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

      •    to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the entity; or 

(b)  A contract that will or may be settled in the entity's own 
equity instruments and is:

      •    a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged 
to deliver a variable number of the entity's own equity 
instruments; or

56 57 



      •    a derivative that will or may be settled other than by 
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity's own 
equity instruments. For this purpose the entity's own 
equity instruments do not include instruments that are 
themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of 
the entity's own equity instruments.

Financial statements

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

(a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period;

(b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period;

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;

(d) a cash flow statement for the period;

(e)  notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information;

(f)  comparatives information in respect of the preceding period 
as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements; and

(g)  a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
preceding period when an entity applies an accounting  
policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement 
of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies 
items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 
41 of AASB 101.

Grants and other transfers

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets 
(or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit without 
receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either 
be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of 
some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give the 
transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately 
equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB 
as involuntary transfers and are termed non reciprocal transfers. 
Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, 
but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not 
obliged to provide commensurate benefits in the form of goods 
or services to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to 
grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. 
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants 
which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use.

Interest expense

Represents costs incurred in connection with borrowings. It 
includes interest on advances, loans, overdrafts, bonds and bills, 
deposits, interest components of lease repayments, service 
concession financial liabilities and amortisation of discounts or 
premiums in relation to borrowings.

Interest income

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on 
financial assets and interest received on bank term deposits and 
other investments.

Leases

Rights conveyed in a contract, or part of a contract, the right 
to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

Net result

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations 
for the period. It is the net result of items of revenue, gains and 
expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding 
those classified as ‘other non-owner movements in equity’.

Net result from transactions or net operating balance

Net operating balance or net result from transactions is a 
key fiscal aggregate and is revenue from transactions minus 
expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the 
ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses 
resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the 
volume of assets. It is the component of the change in net worth 
that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to 
government policies.

Net worth

Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It 
includes inventories, land, buildings, infrastructure, road networks, 
land under roads, plant and equipment, investment properties, 
cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological assets.

Operating result

 Is a measure of financial performance of the operations for 
the period. It is the net result of items of revenue, gains and 
expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding 
those that are classified as ‘other non-owner movements in 
equity’. Refer also ‘net result’. 

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income

Other economic flows – other comprehensive income comprises 
items (including reclassification adjustments) that are not 
recognised in net result as required or permitted by other 
Australian Accounting Standards. They include changes in 
physical asset revaluation surplus; share of net movement in 
revaluation surplus of associates and joint ventures; and gains 
and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets.

Payables

Includes short and long-term trade debt and accounts payable, 
grants, taxes and interest payable.

Receivables

Includes amounts owing from government through 
appropriation receivable, short and long term credit and 
accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes 
and interest receivable.

Supplies and services

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold 
and the day-to-day running costs, including maintenance costs 
incurred in the normal operations of the Authority.

Transactions

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered 
to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an interaction 
between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include 
flows within an entity such as depreciation where the owner 
is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating 
asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the 
asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions 
between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be 
in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal 
consideration) or where the final consideration is cash.  
In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions  
of the government.

8.10 Style conventions

Style conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. 
Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components 
reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on 
the underlying unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

.. zero, or rounded to zero 
(xxx.x) negative numbers 
200x year period 
200x-0x year period

The financial statements and notes are presented based on the 
illustration for a government department in the 2020-21 Model 
Report for Victorian Government Departments. The presentation 
of other disclosures is generally consistent with the other 
disclosures made in earlier publications of the Authority’s  
annual reports.
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Recommendation
That as a priority, the trustees, in 
consultation with the department:

Progress to June 30 2020

1. Determine the trustees’ functions, 
roles, responsibilities, powers and 
obligations through an analysis of the 
existing legal framework and apply this 
to the management of  
the Reserve.

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017 (Act) sets out the specific obligations of 
the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust and Trust membership.

The Trust since its appointment has developed a Board Charter and Code and 
Conduct to guide the management and operation of the Reserve. 

All staff have position descriptions in place with  
clear accountabilities.

Complete

2. Develop and adopt a governance 
framework, consistent with 
contemporary standards, that includes 
the following key elements:

•   a statement of duties and obligations 
of trustees, management plans, a 
mission statement, business plan and 
a comprehensive conflict of interest 
policy

•   business rules for administering the 
trust and  
making decisions

•   an induction program for new 
trustees

•   public reporting on the trust 
activities including  
financial performance

The Department of Environment Land Water and Planning (DELWP) provided an 
induction pack with a suite of templated policies and information to the new trust and 
supported the trust in its establishment under the new Act.

The Trust have developed a vision for the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve to guide all 
decisions of the Trust for the community.

An induction pack for future Trustees has been developed.

The Trust prepares and publishes annual reports publicly on its activities for the year 
for Government and the Community.  

A community forum was held to introduce and release the Annual Report, The Final 
Land Management Plan (LMP) and Trust Strategy. 

The Trust provides information to the Community through  
its web page, and promotes events and discussion through  
social media.

A Draft Governance Framework has been prepared with  
a suite of supporting policies and procedures currently  
under development. 

Progress

3. Develop an agreed comprehensive 
action plan to implement the above 
governance framework that:

•   outlines responsibilities and 
milestones

•   identifies adequate resources for 
completion

The Trust has draft policies and procedures in place, based on the DELWP model.

The Trust has adopted a two year budget whilst the LMP Business Case is being 
prepared, which will guide future operational framework and strategies, development 
governance, planning, project partnerships and implementation and support financial 
and management resourcing.

Progress

4. Identify public safety risks and develop 
strategies to 
 manage those risks

The Trust has completed a whole of organisation Risk Register with mitigating 
strategies in place based on the following risk categories; Strategic, Land 
Management, Organisational, Financial, People, Operational and Regulatory. Risks 
are continually monitored and updated.

Complete

That the trustees of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve also

5. Implement a land management 
strategic plan that contains clear and 
measurable objectives that define 
future land use and development 
consistent with the purposes in the 
Crown grant.

The Minister has released the Land Management Plan (LMP) developed by the Trust.  
The LMP has been developed in consultation with Project Advisory Groups, a Steering 
committee complimented by broad community and stakeholder engagement.

The Final Land Management Plan is a fifteen-year plan for the whole reserve.

Complete

Implementation of VAGO recommendations

Appendix 1 
Progress to Date on VAGO and Bipartisan Working Group Recommendations

6. Upgrade public access and improve 
signage at all entry access points and 
within the Reserve to a standard 
that improves safety and encourages 
increased community use

The Trust, through the engagement process has identified a number of opportunities 
to improve access and awareness of access to the reserve which are currently being 
planned & implemented within available resources.

The Trust has focussed on building awareness of the reserve and in collaboration  
with Council and the Melbourne Racing Club has improved access from the Glen Eira 
Road tunnel.

Funding support will be required to enable further improvements to signage and access.

Progress

7. Develop a comprehensive community 
engagement strategy to identify 
community needs and the community’s 
views on potential future land use and 
development priorities

The Trust has been proactive in engaging with the key stakeholders and broader 
community, including local members of Parliament, Local Government, The Victorian 
Planning Authority, Key local user groups and The Melbourne Racing Club.

The extensive consultation was collated into a Draft Issues and Opportunity Paper, 
which was released for public comment before being finalised.

The engagement plan supports the development of the Land Management Plan and 
positive relationships.

A draft LMP was released in June for community consultation with a concurrent 
opportunity for expressions of interest to partner in delivering this vision.

The final LMP provides a framework to further build community engagement and 
increased use of the reserve.

Complete

8. Finalise and seek approval to amend 
regulations governing land use at the 
Reserve to ensure they are an effective 
tool for the care, protection and 
management of the Reserve

The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017 specifies the functions and powers of the 
Trust in fulfilling its land management functions on behalf of the State of Victoria.

Policies and procedures will be developed and implemented to support the increased 
use of the reserve and implementation of the LMP.

Early consultation with key stakeholders on revised Regulations has been undertaken 
with broader community engagement planned for 2021. The final regulations will be 
prepared to enable the delivery and operation of the LMP.

Progress

9. Develop and enforce a maintenance and 
new works program consistent with the 
proposed land management strategic 
plan to:

•   identify and quantify work to be 
undertaken

•   specify standards to be met

•   detail frequency and location of works

•   acquit work undertaken and costs 
incurred

•   implement regular reporting against 
progress

Work has commenced with Price Waterhouse Coopers to develop a business case for 
Government to implement the Land Management Plan.  Funding contributors to the 
Business case include:

•   Glen Eira Council

•   Sport & Rec Victoria

•   DELWP.

Racing and other key stakeholders have been actively involved in the preparation of 
the business case.

Progress

That as a priority, the department:

10. Introduces more rigorous oversight of 
the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve

DELWP (the department)has:

•   established a detailed reporting framework, as set out in recommendation 11;

•   provided a letter from the Secretary of the department to CRRT, which explains the purpose of 
the reporting framework and sets oversight expectations regarding written progress reports 
from CRRT;

•   attended all CRRT meetings to observe CRRT’s operation and performance; and

•   met regularly with the Chair and Secretary of CRRT to discuss current and emerging issues.
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11. Establishes a comprehensive reporting 
framework including:

•   reports on progress on achieving land 
use and development priorities

•   reports on progress against the 
business plan

•   financial statements prepared 
in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards

The department has developed a ‘Reporting Framework’ (Appendix 2) and provided it to 
CRRT. The framework, which forms the basis of the department’s increased oversight of the 
management of the Reserve,  
does the following:

•   itemises the actions to be taken by CRRT to satisfy recommendations 1 to 9 and, in future, to 
ensure that the Reserve is managed in accordance with modern standards of good public sector 
governance; and

•   specifies quarterly written progress reports by CRRT. It also includes quarterly discussions 
between representatives of the department and the Chairperson and Secretary of CRRT, and 
an annual meeting between senior departmental executives and CRRT.

The framework establishes a performance monitoring and reporting regime for the management 
of the Reserve. The reporting framework enables both CRRT and the department to gauge 
CRRT’s progress more clearly in implementing each of the elements in recommendations 1 to 9.

Its purpose is to ensure that:

•   appropriate action is taken by CRRT to satisfy the recommendations; and

•   in future, the Reserve is managed in accordance with modern standards of good public sector 
governance, consistent with the principles and obligations in the Public Administration Act 2004.

The framework sets out:

•   reporting arrangements, in the form of written reports and meetings; and

•   reporting elements, which focus on recommendations 1 to 9 and related requirements.

Despite repeated requests, the working group notes that CRRT has not adopted the reporting 
framework for its use, and has only provided brief ad hoc updates regarding the VAGO actions to 
the department.

12. Works with the trust to secure the 
commitment of all trustees to comply 
with a set of governance standards that 
reflect contemporary practice.

The department worked with CRRT to secure its commitment to develop and comply with 
modern governance standards. The department has also been meeting regularly with 
representatives of CRRT to discuss progress towards implementation of the recommendations.

That the department also:

13. Closely monitors the trust’s progress 
in implementing its governance 
framework and actively supports the 
trust in the development process

The department provided a range of guidance materials to CRRT that it has developed to assist 
portfolio agencies to meet their legal and good practice obligations. The guidance materials included:

•   Gifts, benefits and hospitality Model Policy;

•   Code of conduct Model Policy;

•   Guidance Note – Code of Conduct

•   Dispute Resolution Model Policy;

•   Meetings and Decisions Model Policy;

•   Conflict of interest Model policy;

•   Guidance Note – Conflict of Interest (about the model policy);

•   Guidance Note – Conflict of Interest (An overview);

To further assist CRRT in its development of governance documentation, the department 
encouraged CRRT to obtain additional governance resources from On Board, the department’s 
governance website for portfolio agencies. The department also provided feedback to CRRT 
on its SLMP and the set of business rules it adopted, including advising CRRT to obtain its own 
independent legal advice regarding decision making of CRRT.

14. Ensures the trustees’ revision and 
update of regulations for the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve are undertaken 
in accordance with the appropriate 
administrative procedures so that the 
regulations are valid and enforceable

The department advised the working group that it has not completed this action, as it is 
dependent on CRRT completing recommendation 7, which CRRT has indicated that it will not be 
completing at this time.

With the inability of the department or the Minister to instruct CRRT to complete 
recommendation 7, there is little the department can do.

The department have indicated its intention to complete this action in partnership with a new 
land manager.

15. Explores alternative management 
arrangements for the Caulfield 
Racecourse Reserve so that it is better  
placed to meet the racing and 
community purposes of the Crown grant.

Not considered by the working group, the working group notes that its report will enable the 
department to complete recommendation 15.

Reporting elements

The reporting elements, which focus on VAGO’s recommendations 1 to 9 and related requirements, are as follows:

Appendix 2 
VAGO recommendations: Management and Oversight of Caulfield Racecourse Reserve

Reporting Framework - Summary Chart of action items for the TRUSTEES

Ref VAGO recommendation Reporting Element Timeframe Progress

That as a priority, the Trustees 
of the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve, in consultation with 
the Department:

1. Legal framework

Determine the trust’s functions, 
roles, responsibilities, powers and 
obligations through an analysis of 
the existing legal framework and 
apply this to the management of 
the reserve.

Complete The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017, 
sets out the legal framework and specific 
obligations of the Trust and the Trustees.

1(a) Determine functions

1(b) Determine roles

1(c) Determine responsibilities

1(d) Determine powers

1(e) Determine obligations

1(f) Apply above legal framework.

2. Governance framework

Develop and adopt a governance 
framework, consistent with 
contemporary standards, that 
includes the following key 
elements:

3 months The Trust has draft policies and procedures in 
place based on the DELWP model

A Code of Conduct has been adopted by  
the Trust.

A Vision for the Caulfield Racecourse  
Reserve has also been prepared with a  
Mission Statement

A Trust Strategy to guide and inform the Trusts 
direction has been adopted.

A Land Management Plan has been adopted 
and released publicly. This will inform the 
future development and management of  
the Reserve.

•   a statement of duties and 
obligations of trustees, 
management plans, a mission 
statement, business plan and 
a comprehensive conflict of 
interest policy

2(a)  Statement of duties and obligations 
of trustees

Complete A code of conduct has been adopted by  
the Trust.

2(b) Management plans Complete A Land management Plan is complete and 
released by the Minister.

2(c) Mission statement Complete The Trust has adopted a Vision for the  
reserve and the principles to which decisions 
and management of the reserve will be 
delivered against.

The Trust has developed and released a Trust 
Strategy.
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2(d)  Business plan, including (as per 
recommendation 11, Reporting 
Framework):

Complete The Trust has formally adopted a Trust Strategy 
which sets priorities for each year of operation 
and will seek to move to a business plan in the 
coming years which will be informed by the 
Land Management Plan.

•   Strategic plan Complete The Land Management Plan and Trust Strategy 
have been released.

•   Annual business plan Complete The Trust has adopted a Trust Strategy and 
Annual budget / business plan.

2(e)  Comprehensive conflict of  
interest policy

Complete A conflict of interest policy has been prepared 
and is modelled on the DELWP model policies.

Declarations to confirm any conflicts occur at 
all meetings.

•   business rules for 
administering the trust and 
making decisions

2(f)  Business rules for administering 
the trust and decision- making, 
including (but not limited to) board 
policies on:

         •   board meetings and  
decision-making

         •   code of conduct

         •   gifts, benefits and hospitality 
(responding to / making offers 
of gifts, benefits or hospitality, 
internal or external)

         •   dispute resolution

         •   performance assessment.

         •   conflict of interest policy, as listed 
above in 2(e).

Complete The Trust has developed a draft Code of 
Conduct and draft governance framework and 
is working through the suite of policies and 
procedures to support the implementation of 
these based on the DELWP model templates.

The Trust updates / confirms at each meeting:

•   Gifts benefits & hospitality

•   Conflicts of interest

•   Register of interest

•   an induction program for  
new trustees

2(g) Induction program including:

         •   induction program session(s)

         •   induction package

         •   one on one introductory session 
with chair

         •   mentoring arrangement.

Complete The Trust was provided an induction pack  
from DELWP at commencement and has 
developed a comprehensive induction pack  
for future trustees.

•   public reporting on trust 
activities including financial 
performance

2(h)  Public reporting on trust activities, 
including:

         •   Annual Report  to be 
provided to the Minister and 
subsequently published on the 
Trustees website. (Report to 
cover the matters specified by 
DELWP, based on items in the 
model report issued    by the 
Department of Premier and 
Cabinet)

         •   other public reporting as advised 
by DELWP.

Complete The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust 
provided its first Annual Report to the Minister 
for the 2018-19 year which was published 
on the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust 
website and reported in Parliament. Each year 
the Trust will report to the Community and 
Government through an annual report.

The Trust reports on progress against the 
bipartisan review in the Caulfield Racecourse 
Reserve Trust Annual Report. The Annual 
Report also includes financial performance

The Trust is establishing a program of 
community engagement and reporting.

2(i)  Public reporting on financial 
performance:

         •   as advised by DELWP, to be 
included in annual report (above)

         •   also note requirements in 
relation to financial statements 
(next below).

Complete Included in Annual report.

Regular reporting to DELWP.

•   PLUS (as per recommendation 
11, Reporting Framework):

2(j)  Financial statements prepared 
in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (as per 
recommendation 11), including:

         •   Annual statements

         •   Other statements as advised  
by DELWP.

Complete Financial Statements will be included in the 
Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust Annual 
Report in line with Government Policy.

•   PLUS (as per recommendation 
11, Reporting Framework):

2(k) Annual audit by VAGO. Complete VAGO undertake annual audits of the Trust and 
this is provided in the annual report.

•   PLUS (as per recommendation 
11, Reporting Framework):

2(l)  Other performance and/or financial 
reports, as advised by DELWP.

Complete The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust  works 
with DELWP to ensure all reporting is aligned 
with DELWP expectations

•   PLUS (as per recommendation 
11, Reporting Framework):

2(m)  Compliance with any Ministerial 
statement of expectations, 
directions, guidelines, etc. issued 
by the Minister for Environment, 
Climate Change, and Water.

Complete The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust is 
reporting against the Ministerial Statement of 
Expectations.

The Land Management Plan delivered on this 
statement of expectations

3. Action plan  
(governance framework)

Develop an agreed 
comprehensive action plan to 
implement the above governance 
framework that:

12 months A comprehensive Governance Framework is 
being prepared with the Trust to develop a 
program for implementation.

•   outlines responsibilities and 
milestones

3(a)  Agreed action plan with 
responsibilities and milestone

•   identifies adequate resources 
for completion

3(b)  Adequate resources for completion 
of action plan

Land management strategic plan

Implement a land management 
strategic plan that contains 
clear and measurable objectives 
that define future land use and 
development consistent with the 
purposes in the Crown grant.

Complete An Issues and Opportunities Paper has been 
developed through extensive consultation.

A Land Management Plan is complete 
and released by the Minister. The Land 
Management Plan will guide all future planning 
and decisions at the Reserve.

5(a)  Develop a land management 
strategic plan with clear and 
measurable objectives

5(b)  Implement land management 
strategic plan

That the Trustees of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve also:

4. Public safety

Identify public safety risks and 
develop strategies to manage 
those risks.

Complete The Trust has adopted a whole of organisation 
Risk Register with mitigating strategies in 
place based on the following risk categories; 
Strategic, Land Management, Organisational, 
Financial, People, Operational and Regulatory.

4(a) Identify public safety risks

4(b)  Develop strategies to manage 
public safety risks identified

5. Land management strategic plan

Implement a land management 
strategic plan that contains 
clear and measurable objectives 
that define future land use and 
development consistent with the 
purposes in the Crown grant.

Over next 15 
years

The Land Management Plan will guide future 
investment and management of the Reserve 
and will be implemented in a staged approach 
subject to funding.

A business case for Government is currently 
being prepared to support investment and 
management of implementing the LMP.
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5(a)  Develop a land management 
strategic plan with clear and 
measurable objectives

5(b)  Implement land management 
strategic plan

6. Community use

Upgrade public access and 
improve signage at all entry 
access points and within the 
reserve to a standard  that  
improves safety and encourages 
increased community use.

Ongoing The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust is 
looking at potential improvements that can  
be made to signage, community awareness  
and access to the Reserve that are within the 
Trusts resources.

With the progressive relocation of training the 
Trust will look to further increase the use of the 
Reserve as this occurs.

Improved access & works will be subject to 
funding in line with the Land Management Plan 
and community engagement.

During successive lockdowns during the  
year community use at the reserve grew 
significantly highlighting the demand for  
access to the reserve.

The Astronomical Society of Victoria has hosted 
a series of events at the reserve increasing the 
use and diversity of users at the reserve.

6(a) Upgrade public access Ongoing Glen Eira Road tunnel access has been 
improved in collaboration with Council and  
the MRC.

Further improvements are subject to  
funding support.

6(b)  Improve signage to encourage 
community access/use and  
improve safety

Ongoing Signage upgrades will be subject to funding 
support from the State government.

7. Community engagement 
strategy

Develop a comprehensive 
community engagement 
strategy to identify community 
needs and the community’s views 
on potential future land use and 
development priorities.

Ongoing The Trust has undertaken an extensive 
program of community engagement, with 
community information sessions being held, 
as well as a community workshop, which 
provided the opportunity for input into the 
Issues and Opportunities Paper.  The Draft 
Issues & Opportunity Paper was released for 
consultation prior to being finalised, adopted 
and released.

The Trust has appointed a GM to lead 
engagement with the community and  
key stakeholders.

A community engagement strategy was 
implemented in the preparation of the Land 
Management Plan.

7(a)  Community engagement strategy 
that identifies community needs/ 
views on future land use & priorities

Complete

8. Regulations

Finalise and seek approval to 
amend regulations governing 
land use at the reserve to 
ensure they are an effective 
tool for the care, protection and 
management of the reserve.

12 Months The Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust Act 
2017 provides the legal framework for the trust.

The Land Management Plan will inform any 
amendments required to the 2018 regulations

Early consultation with Council and the 
Melbourne racing Club has informed the 
direction for the amended regulations.

Community consultation is planned for  
input into the direction for the redrafting of  
the regulations.

8(a)  Finalise proposed amendment  
to regulations

8(b) Seek approval for amendment

•   PLUS (as per recommendation 
14)

8(c)  Liaise with DELWP to ensure 
that the revision and updating of 
the regulations is undertaken in 
accordance with the appropriate 
administrative procedures, so  
that the recommendations are  
valid and enforceable.

9. Works program

Develop and enforce a   
maintenance and new works 
program consistent with the 
proposed land management 
strategic plan to:

•   identify and quantify work to 
be undertaken

•   specify standards to be met

•   detail frequency and location 
of works

•   acquit work undertaken and 
costs incurred

•   implement regular reporting 
against progress

12 months The Land Management Plan which will inform 
future works and maintenance activities at  
the Reserve.

A business Case to Government is currently 
being prepared and a request for recurrent 
support has been made.

9(a)  Develop works program consistent 
with proposed land management 
strategic plan

9(b) Enforce works program
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Legislation Requirement Page reference

Standing Directions and Financial Reporting Directions 
Report of operations 

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 13

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 14

FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects 20

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 13

Management and structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 33

Financial and other information

FRD 10A Disclosure index 70

FRD 12B Disclosure of major contracts 51

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 38

FRD 22H Occupational health and safety policy 34

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 26

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 27

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 27

FRD 22H Subsequent events 31

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 52

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 54

FRD 22H Statement on National Competition Policy 55

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 55

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10 000 49

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10 000 49

FRD 22H Disclosure of government advertising expenditure 48

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 50

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 67

FRD 25D Local Jobs First 45

FRD 29C Workforce Data disclosures 39

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 11

The annual report of Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trust is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and 
pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Trusts compliance with 
statutory disclosure requirements.

Appendix 3 
Disclosure Index

Compliance attestation and declaration

SD 5.4.1 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 68

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 12

Financial statements

Declaration

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 75

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements

11

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Standing Directions 11

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements (a)

FRD 9B Departmental Disclosure of Administered Assets and Liabilities by Activity 116

FRD 21C Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel 
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report

237

FRD 103H Non Financial Physical Assets 127

FRD 110A Cash Flow Statements 85

FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 105

FRD 114C Financial Instruments – general government entities and public non-financial 
corporations

180

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 52

Building Act 1993 54

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 55

Local Jobs Act 2003 45

Financial Management Act 1994 91

Caulfield Racecourse Reserve Act 2017 91
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